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INTHE NAME OF BOSNIA AND HERZEGOVINA

The Court of Bosnia and Herzegoving, Section [ for War Crimes, in the Pane) comprised off
Judges Minku Kreho us the President of the Panel, und Roland Dekkers and Tore Lindseth,
as members of the Pancl, with the participation of the Leeal Advisor Amela Skrobo as the
Minutes-laker, in the crniminal case against the accused Mirko Todorovié and Milod Radié,
for the eniminal oflense of Crimes against Humanity in violation of Article 172 (1) item h),
in conjunction with items a) and f), Article 29 und Anicle 180 (1) of the Criminal Code of
Bosnia and Herzegovina, deciding upon the Indictment ot the Prosecutor’s Office of Bosnia
and Herzegovina, number KT-RZ:140/05 of 15 June 2007, as amended on 18 April 2008,
after the main and public hearing atiended by the accused Mirko Todorovié and his defense
counsels ~ aitorney Hamdo Kulenovi¢ uniil 24 January 2008 and thereafier attomey Ziko
Kruni¢, and the accused Milo§ Radi¢ and his defensc counsel Stanko Petrovié, and the
Prosecutor of the BiH Prosecutor’s Office, Adnan Gulamovié, on 2% April 2008, in the
presence of the Accused and their defense counscls, and the Prosccutor of the Bill
Prosecutor’s Oflice, Sunja Juki¢, publicly rendered und announced the following

VERDICT

I'he Accusced

). MIRKO TODOROVIC a.k.s. Banana, son of Dorde and Smilja, née Sarac, bom
on 15 May 1954 in Bratunac, residing in Repovac bb /uo mumber/, Municipality
Bratunae, Serb, citizen of Bil, car mcchanic, litcrate, driver by occupation,
graduated from the Vocational Secondary School, married, father of three children,
served military service in 1974 in Kraljevo and Ni§, no ranks, no decorations, :
registered in the Bratunac Military Records, average financial stalus, convicted by Il
the Judgmems of the Municipal Court in Srebrenica number K.414/88 of
I5 December 1987 for the criminal offense referred to in Article 43 of the CC BiH
with the pronounced fine in the amoum of 60.000 dinars, the Judgment of the
Municipal Count in Srebrenica number K.220/87 of 22 September 1987 for the
commission ol the criminal offcnse referred 10 in Article 81(1) of the CC SRBiH
with the imposed fine in the amount of 20,000 dinars and the Judgment of the
Municipal Count Osje¢ina, number K 125/87 of 30 January 1990 for the criminal
offense referred 10 in Article 201/5 in conjunciion with Article 195(3) and | of the
CC SRS with the pronounced suspended scntence, one ycar of imprisonment, wo
years on parole, no proceedings conducted for uny other criminal offense, in custody
pursuant to the Decision of the Court of BiH, number: X-KRN/07/382 of 24 May

2007,
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and

[

MILOS RADIC, son of Mirko and Milosava, née Todorovié, bom on § June 1959
in Srebrenica, residing in Repovac bb/ue uumserd, NMunicipality Bratunac, Serb, citizen
of BiH, car mechanic, literate, qualified car mechanic by occupation, married, father
of three children, served the Anny in 1989/90 in Travnik, registered in the Bratunac
Military Records, no ranks, no decorations, avernge linancial status, no prior
convictions, no proceedings conducted for other criminal offense, in custody
pursuani 10 the Decision of the Coun of Bild, number: X-KRN/07/382 of 24 May
2007.

ARE FOUND GUILTY

Because:

During the armed conflict in Bosnia and Herzegovina when both the army and the police of
Republika Srpska launched a widespread and sysiematic attack against the Bosnisk civilian
population in the territory of the Municipality of Bratunac, the accused Mirko “Fodorovié
and Milod Radié, members of the Republika Srpska Army, with knowledge of such an
altack, persecwted the Bosniak civilians on political, national, ethnic, cultural and religious
grounds by depriving them of physical libeny, and by tonure and killings, in the following
nanner:

On 20 May 1992 during the aliernoon hours, in the village of Borkovac, the Municipality of
Bratunac, in a group with four other members of the Anny of Republika Srpska, including
Novak Stjepanovié a.k.a. Krke, participated in the arrest of a group of 14 (founiecn) Bosniak
civilians, namely: Hamed Alié¢, Hamid Ali¢, Halima Ali¢, Maho Avdi¢, Hamedina Ramic,
Munib Sulejimanovié, Hajrudin Hasanovi¢, Hamed Veti¢, Fadil Sulejmanovié, Amer Rami¢,
Naser Sulejmanovié, Muharem Salki¢, Mehmed Johié and {bro D2ananovié who were
hiding due 10 the fear of the attack by the Republika Srpska army and police in an
abandoncd guarry, not lar lrom the village of Borkovac where most of them resided, and
thereafier 100k them in a line toward the village, when someone from the group of atlackers
killed Avdi¢ Maho with a shot from the weapon who was a1 the back of the line, and
thereafter 1ortured the frightened civilians by punching them, kicking them with boots all
over their bodies, seized all their money and valuables, cursing them for their ethnicity, and
thereafier 100k them 10 a slope toward a nearby creek where they iined them up with their
faces tumncd toward the creek and then shot them from behind their back, duc 1o which their
bodies were falling into the creek, on which occasion Hamid Ali¢, Halima Ali¢, Munib
Suleymanovi¢, Fadil Sulejmanovié, Hajrudin Hasanovié, Hamed Veli¢, Hamedina Rami¢
were killed due 10 the shots from the fircarms,

Thercefore,

As a pant of the widespread and systematic autack directed against the Bosniak civilians,
wilh knowlcduc of such an antack, the accused persccuted the civilian Bosniak population as

(%]
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accomplices on political, national, ethnic, cultural and religious grounds by depriving them
of their physical liberty, by 1orture and killing,

Whercehy

they commiited the criminal offense of Crimeys against Humanity in violimion of Anicle 172
(1) item h), in conjunction with item a). ¢) and {) of the Criminal Code of BiH, all in
conjunction with Article 29 and Anticle 180 (1) ol the same Code.

Therelore, pursuant 10 the stated stainory regulations. and in conjunction with Anicles 39,
42 and 48 of the Criminal Code of Bosnia and Herzegovina, the accused Mirko Todorovié

and Milo$ Radié are

SENTENCED

TO IMPRISONMENT FOR A TERM OF 17 (SEVENTEEN) YEARS
EACH

Pursuant 10 Article 56 of the Criminuyl Code of Bosnin and Herzegovina, the time that the
Accused spent in custody shall be credited 10 the imposed semence of imprisonment staniing
from 24 May 2007 and further on, or until a possible commiual 1o serve the sentence.

Pursuant 10 Anticle 188 (4) of the Criminal Procedure Code of Bosnin and Herzegovina, the
Accuscd are redieved in pant of the duty 10 compensate the costs of the proccedings, about
which the Court shall render a special decision.

1t

Pursuant 10 Anicle 198 (2) of the Criminal Procedure Code of Bosnia and Herzegovina, the
injured partics shall be instructed 10 pursue their claims under propenty law in a civil action.

Reasoning
1. Charges

By the Indicunemt of the Prosecutor's Office of Bosnia and Herzegovina, Special
Depanimem for War Crimes, number KT-RZ-140/75 of 15 Junc 2007, the accused Mi
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Todorovi¢ and Milo$ Radi¢ were charged for the commission of the criminal ofTense of
Crimes against Humaniiy in violation of Article 172 (1) item h), in conjunction with ilems
a) and ) of the Criminal Codc of Bosnia and Herzcgovina.

As referred 1o in the Indicunem, the Accused commined this criminal ofTense on 20 May
1992, namcly the persceuwtion of civilian Bosniak population from the territory of the
Municipality of Bratunac, commitied by torturing a group of 14 civilians, ol whoin 8 were
kitled.

The Indicunent was conlirmed on 21 June 2007, and the accuscd, namely Mirko Todorovic
on 6 July, and Milo$§ Radié on 12 July 2008, pled not guilty, afier which the case was
transterred 1o the Trial Panel, which opened the main trial on | October 2007.

During the wholc main trial, the Accused were in custody, due 10 the existence of special
circumstances indicating that they would use their release 10 influence the witnesses or the
accomplices, who were identificd during these proceedings.

2. Adduced Evidence

») Evidence for the Prosceutor’s Office

During thc muain irial, the following witnesses were examined: Hamed Ali¢, Naser
Sulgjmanovié, Elma Kaljewié, Hamed Rami¢, Safa Sulcymanovié, Amer Rami¢, Sadeia
Hasanovié¢, Rusveta Suleymanovié, Zejneba Avdi¢, Radoje Zivkovié, Dane Lonéarevié,
Suljo Cakanovi¢, Ljubisa Todorovié, Muharem Salki¢, Bajro Kulovac and expert witness
Vedad Tuco.

The following documentary evidence was adduced: a letter by the survived victim Amer
Rami¢ addressed 10 his father Hamed Ramié; a copy of the 1D card of Milo$ Radié: iwo
copies of the 1D card of Mirko Todorovié with two different photos of the Accuscd; Excerpl
from the criminal record dated 1 June 2005, number 12-1-6/02-235-106/05; Excerpt from
the criminal record dated 31 May 2003, number 12-1-7/02-235-89/05; Photo-documentation
dated 10 May 2004, number 08-02/3-5-04, 6-3132/04 (containing 78 photos); Skeich of the
on-site location dated 4 May 2004, number 08-02/3-5-04,6-3132/04; Military 1D record of
Republika Srpska for Todorovi¢ Mirko, number 338/54; Military ID record of the SFRY for
Milod Radi¢, number 123997; Ofticial Repont on the action pursuant to the Order of the
Court of BIH number X-KRN-07/382 of 22 May, number: 17-0472-04-2-2105 BK of
24 May 2007; Cenrtificate of seizure of the items, number: 17.04/2-04-2-11/07 of 23 May
2007; Record of the scarch of house, other premises and movable items, number: 17-04/2-
04-2-11/07 of 23 May 2007; Record of the handover of the person deprived ol libeny:,
number: 17-04/2-04-2-6/07 of 23 May 2007; Ceriificate of seizure of items. number: |7-
04/2.04-2-12/07 of 23 May 2007; Record of the search of the house, other premises and
movable iiems, number: 17-04/2-04-2-12/07 of 23 May 2007; Record of the handover of the
person deprived of liberty, number: 17-04/2-04-2-6/07 of 23 May 2007; Record of
exhumation KTA-609/04 of 29 April 2004; Letier of the Cantonal Prosecutor’s Office of
Tuzla Canton, number: KTA-609/04 of 3 Ociober 2006, Ideniificarion Record, number:
REP-1/1-b for Masanovi¢ Hajrudin; Death cenificate for Hasanovi¢ Hajrudin (fec); Repon
of forensic expert evaluation number REP-1/1b of 7 May 2004; DNA Results number: REP-
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I/1b for Hajrudin Hasanovi¢; identification Record, number REP-1/2b for Halima Ali¢;
Dcath cenificate for Halima Ali¢ (REP-172 b); Repont of torensic expert evaluation of
6 May 2004, REP-1/2b; DNA Results of 23 December 2004 for Halima Alié; idemificnion
Record. REP-1/3b for Sulejmanovi¢ Munib (fec), Death cenificate for Munib
Sulejmanovi¢; Repon of forensic expent evaluation of 6 May 2004 nimber REP/1/3; DNA
Results number 1/3 for Munib Sulcjmanovié; ldentification Record, number REP-1/4b for
Ali¢ Hamid, Death cenilicate for Ali¢ Hamid (fce); Repon of forensic expen evaluation off
6 May 2004: DNA Results number 174 REP for Hamid Ali¢; Idemification Record for
Avdi¢ Maho, Death centificate for Avdi¢ Maho (fcc); Repon of forensic expen cvaluation
for Hamed Velié; DNA Results number 1/6b REP; Identification Record for Hlamed Velié
REP 1/6 b (fec); Death cenificate for Hamed Velié (fee); Report of forensic expent
evaluaion, nuimber REP 1/6b of 6 May 2004; DNA Resulis (duplice); Identification
Record for IFadil Sulejmanovi¢, number REP 1/7; Death centificate for Fadil Sulejmanovi¢
(fec); Repont of forensic expenrt cvaluation, number REP 1/7; Death cenificate for Fadil
Sulejmanovic (fee); Repon of forensic expen evaluation of 7 May 2004 REP/1/07b; DNA
Results for Fndil Suleymanovi¢, Identification Record number REP 1/8b for Hamedin
Ramié; Death cenificate for Hamedin Remié¢; Repon of forensic expert evalualion of
29 April 2004 for the case 1/8 REP; DNA Results for Hamedin Ramié, casc REP 1/8b;
lems from the processing of the case REP 172b and 1/6b (pistol bullet shells); SIPA
Witness Examination Record for Ljubida Todorovi¢, number t7-04/2-04-2.608/07 of 12

hune 2007.

b} Evidenee for the Defense

The following witnesses for the Defense of the accused Mirko Todorovié were examined:
Zivojin Milovéevié, Miladin Jovanovié, Mchmedaliju Ahmié; Dragomir Blagojevié;
ivlilorad Nikoli¢, Safer Hasanovié; Chran Musié, Osman Osmanovié, Hanifa Velié, Milo3
Todorovi¢, and the wilnesses for the defense of the accused Milo$ Radi¢: Ikonija Pavlovié,
Krstina Petrovi¢, Burdija Radi¢, Ramo Smajlovi¢ and Sabit Smajlovi¢.

Witness Milod Todaravic ulso testified for the defense of the accused Milod Radié.

Documentary evidence of the Defense for the firsi-accused udduced during the main trial is
as lollows: Judgment of the Military Count in Bijetjinu, No. IK-137/95 of | August 1995
against Mirko Todorovi¢, and the SDS Bratunac Cenificate, No. 01-01/08 of 11 Januarv
2008 for Mirko Todorovid.

The Defense for the second-accused did not offer any documentary evidence.

3. Closing Arguments
) Prosecutor’s Office

In his Closing Argument, the Prosecutor stated that the essential element of the criminal
offense of Crimes against Humanity is the existence of a widespread or systematic anack,
the direciness of such attack against civilian population, the knowledge, or the awareness ol
the perpetrator about the existence of such autack, and the indication of the adduced——n
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evidence that the accused Mirko Todorovié and Milto§ Radié knew about the existence of
such atiack, and that by their actions they committed this particular criminal offense. The
Accused were aware of the existence of the attack on the civilian Bosniak population, and
they also wanted their actions 1o constituie @ part of that attack because, having acied with a
discriminatory intention, they committed the persecution and exposed the injured parties to
the criminal treniment only because they were members of a particular group of people,
namely because of their Bosniak cthnicity. In the Prosceutor’s Office opinion, it can be secn
from the evidence adduced at the main trial that the auack on the civilian Bosniak
population of the city ol Bratunac and i1s owtskins and also the surrounding villages was
widespread and systematic in its character, and also from the evidence adduced in other
proccedings before the ICTY, that the Count of Bild aceepted upon the Motion of the Bifl
Prosecutor’s Oflice.

With regard 10 individual charges, the Prosecutor stated, as an indisputable fact, that on
20 May 1992, in the crmitory of the Municipality of Bratunac, in the Borkovac scitiement,
cight Bosniak civilians were Killed, and the fact that the Accused were at the crime scenc
tempore criminis. In the Prosecutor’s Office opinion, il ensues from 1he testimonies of the
survived witnesses Hamed Alié, Nascr Sulejmanovi¢, Muharem Satki¢ and Amer Ramié, of
whom somc where neighbors and school (riends of the Accuscd and who knew them well,
thit the Accused panticipated in the arrest of these civilians, were present when they were
mistreated and plundered, and subsequentiy panicipaled in their taking away to the
execution site and at their exccution itself.

With regard 10 the actions ol the Accused, their awareness and will, the Prosecutor opines
ihat it has been proved by the adduced evidence that the Accused were aware that in concerl
with other persons they panicipated in the commission of this criminal offense, and that
having sharcd the common goal of the group, namcly the liquidation of the captured Muslin
civilians which followed aRer their arrest, mistreniment and taking 10 execution, they
underiook the actions which contributed in a decisive manner (o the commission of the
¢rime, on which occasion they acted with an intention, in which manner they are fully
responsibic as accomplices based on the individual criminal responsibility for the actions as
charped,

Finally, regarding the Defense evidence adduced at the main trial, and also the thesis that
auainst their will the Accused had been taken by unknown persons 1o the woods where the
eriime was committed, the Prosecutor evaluated it as the cvidence directed exclusively at
avoiding the criminal responsibility of the Accused, and viewed, the testimonies of the
witnesses fur the Defense as contradictory, biased and directed at helping the Accused with
whom they have family relations. Thus the Prosecutor pointed out that due to all the
foregoing. he proposed the Panel to find the Accused responsible, and to sentence them 10 a
long term imprisonment.

h) Delfense

In their Closing Arguments, the defense counsels for the firsti-accused and the second-
accused pointed out that the Defense objected to the application of the Criminal Code of
Bill because the Code concemed was not applicable at the time of the commission of the
stated criminal offense, and also because the application of this Code is contrary 10 the
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general principles of the rule of law and the principle nuflum crimen mdfa poena sine
fegem, which is also expressed in Article 7 ol the ECHR. ln the Defense’s opinion, W is
obvious that due 10 the abolished death penalty prescribed by the provisions of the SFRY
Criminal Cocle, the SFRY Criminal Code was more lenicni 1o the perpeirator, and that as the
more lenieni code, it should have been applied in this case 100.

The defense counscls for both the Accused pointed out their opinion that the actions of their
clients had not sutisfied the essential elements of the criminal offense as charged. Primarily.
they are of the opinion thai the widespread and systematic aitack on Muslims in the 1emritory
of the Municipality of Bratunac did not exist because the organized action concerning the
persecution of Muslim population in the werritory of the Municipality of Braiunac had been
completed on 10 May 1992, namely 10 davs before 1he critical event concemed, and that the
Bosniak population of Borkovac and the surrounding villages had already left these
territories, due 1o which, in the opinion of the Defense, no widespread and systematic attack
could have existed. No piece of evidence was adduced 50 as (o prove that any civil or
military authority of the Municipality ol Bratunac ordered any attack againsi the group of
civilians who had been hidden in the woods in the territory of the village of Borkovac, or
that any legal authority had planned the attack. Therelore, in the opinion of the Defense, the
accident in Borkovac was an isolaled casc.

The delense counsel for 1he firsi-accused Mirko Todorovié pointed out that the Accused had
not taken any action which would constitute wonure or depriving another person of his lile,
nor persccution of the civilian population in retation 10 1hat, that none of the witnesses
charged him with any misireatment and seizure of valuable items as arbitranily referred 1 in
the Indictiment, while witness Muharem Salki¢ explicitly confinmed that the Accused had
not mistrealed him or seized any valuable items from him. Regarding the presence of the
Accuscd av ihe crime seenc at the time of the crime commission, the Delense points out that
he had been forced by the volunieers, including “Krke™, 1o set off toward the ares where the
accident concemned subsequently occurrcd, and that the Accused admitied thm he had been
al the crime scene for a while, but had lefi it before the execution of the captured civilians.
Only the first-accused was not masked at the critical time, which, in the opinion of the
Delense, indicates his honorable intentions on that occasion, as also indicated by the fact the
during the period from 10 May 1992 through 12 May 1992, Todorovié, helped by a guard,
managed 10 help his Muslim neighbors and acquainiances to leave the sports hall in which
they had been detained. This event points 1o the fact that it is impossible that the Accused
could trunsform himsell from a positive person into a criminal in only 7 days. In the opinion
of the Defense, the fact that the Accused was not a1 the crime scene at the critical time,
namely that shorily before the tragic event he went home, is confirmed by the consistent
testimonics of the accused Milod Radié and witnesses Muharem Salkié and Hamed Alié,
who stated that the Accused had not been there at the 1ime of the critical event. In the
Defense opinion, the testimonies of wilnesses Naser Sulejmanovi¢ and Amer Ramié
concerning the same circumstance should be evaluated as negatively motivaied against the
Accuscd, and particularly the testimony of Amer Ramié, which should be taken within the
context of inadmissible examination by the Prosecutor who had asked this witness Icading
quesiions concerning the presence of the Accused during the event. These differences in the
testimonies are of decisive inyportance for the evaluation conceming the {ack of existence of
the responsibility of the accused Todorovié.
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The defense counsel for the second-accused Milo§ Radié poimed owt, inter alia, that it
ensues from the testimonies of the examined wilnesses that the Accused was a peaceful and
honest man who mosily sotialized 1ogether and cooperated with his Muslim ncighbors, was
not a member of any potitical pany and therefore could not have known about the ideas of
cither the Republika Srpska or the Municipality of Bratunac. He repeated thal the Defense
does not contest the fact that at the critical 1ime the Accused was present at the ¢crime scene,
but that according 10 his own statement he was foreed 10 it against his will by the persons
who hud come there 10 commit crimes. These allegations werc also confirmed ai the main
trinl by the Defense witnesses. [t became clear 10 the Accused what would happen with the
arrested civilians only afier they had been lined up along the creek. Afier thai, he tried 10
cscape, but slipped and fell down. Thercupon, he was ordercd 10 come back. In the opinion
of the Dctense, the Prosecuor’'s Oflice tailed 10 prove that ay the critical time the Accused
had a camouflage cap on his head, which was stated in the investigation only by wilness
Muharem Salki¢, while the other wilnesses stated this only al the main trial. The Defense
concludes from this that they acted in concent before their giving cvidence. In the Defense
opinion, it is clear from the adducced cvidence thas on the critical occasion the accused Milos
Radi¢ did not arrest, 1orure in any manner, seize money or any other valuable items from
the arresied Muslim civilians, that he did not shoot them, kill or injure any of them. In the
opinion of thc Dclense, on the cntical occasion, the Accused was not in a position to
objectively help the injured-parties in any way becausc he was alraid that he could be also
killed.

‘The defense counscls for both the Accused comiested the legality of the siatement taking
from wilness Ljubi3a Todorovié in the investigation because the examiner was a record-
taker at the same time, and also the confrontation of the SIPA inspector and this witness ai
the mnin trial because it is contrary 10 the CPC BiH provisions. Finally, they pointed owt
that the BiH Prosccutor’s Office failed 10 prove beyond any rcasonable doubt that their
clients were guilty of the criminal offense as charged and proposed that they be acquitted of
the charges.

d, Procedural decisions

a) Decision on the Motion of the BiH Prosecutor’s Office, number K'U'-RZ-140/05 of
22 October 2007 1o nccept certain facts cstablished in the ICTY cases and certain
written evidentinry material used by the ICTY; and about the proposal by the Defense
for the accused Mirko Todorovié of 13 March 2008 to accept certain facts adjudicuted
hefore the ICTY

Pursuam 10 Anicle 4 of the Law on Transfer of Cases by the ICTY, in conjunction with
Anticles 261 (1) and 15 of the CPC BiH, the BiH Prosecutor’s OfTice filed on 22 Ociober
2007 the motion 1o accept cenain facts adjudicated by the ICTY and the wntien cvidentiary
matcrial from the proceedings before the [CTY of imponance for the case at hand.

Under item A of the Motion, the Prosecutor’s Cffice slated the facts established in the case

against: Mitar Vasiljevié, conceming the existence of 8 widespread and systemmatic attack in
the territory of the Municipality of Visegrad; and in the cases against Milorad K mojelac and
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Dmgotjub Kunarac conceming the existence of a widespread and systematic anack in the
tlcmitory of the Municipality of Foda.

Under item B of the Motion, the Prosecutor’s Office proposed the acceplance of the
evidentiary material froin the Vidoje Blugojevié case, numely the statemem of the wilness
Miroslav Deronjié - the Miroslav Deronjié casc, the Dcecision on Stratcgic Goals of the Scrb
People in BiH, number: 02-130/92 of 12 May 1992, the Instruciion on Organizaiion and
Activities of the Serb People Authorities in BiH in Extraordinary Circumstances of
19 December 1991; Momtilo Krajisnik, the Decision Declaring  Extraordinary
Circumsiances duc 1o Immincnt War Danger in the Temitory of the Scrb Bil) of 16 April
1992, the Order on General Mobilization by the Crisis Staff of the Municipality ol Bratunae
ol 16 April 1992, Bratunac Crisis StafT Order prohibiting the activities of all paramilitary
formations and illegal citizens in the territory of the Municipality of Brawmae of 1 May
1992 and the Bitt Census from Apnii 1991,

By his submission of t0 December 2007, at the time defense counsel for the first-accused
Mirko Todorovi¢, alomey Hamdo Kulenovié, objected io this Motion and proposcd its
rcfusal as unfounded.

The defense counsel panicularly referred to the Motion 10 Accept Established Facts,
pointing out that they concerned the territory which was not the subject of these criminal
proceedings. namely the Fota and Vidcgrad territory.

He also contesicd the usc ot the statcment of Miroslav Deronjié from the proceedings in the
Vidoje Blugojevié cuse since he considercd it inapplicable because this witness entered a
plea agreement in the proceedings conducted against him as the accused.

Therefore, he proposed that the Prosecutor’s Office Motion be refused as unfounded.

The defense counsel for ihe sccond-accuscd, attomey Stanko Pctrovié, supporicd this
objection and panticularly emphasized thut the proposcd eswblished tacis did not concem
the territory of the Municipality of Bratunac.

The Prosecutor’s Office supplemeniced this Motion by its submission ol 19 December 2007,
specilying the proposed estublished fiucis in terms ol the first instance, or the second
instance establishment ol 1hose facts by the ICTY Judgmenis in these cases, and clarilied
the proposed siatement of wilness Miroslav Deronji¢ referred 10 in the Fidoje Bluyojevic
casc in tenns of its taking and using during this wilness tcstimony at the main trial before
the ICTY,

Thereafier, on 15 January 2008, and upon the Court’s request, the Prosccutor delivercd the
entirc paragraphs’ content of the ICTY Judgments proposced for the cstablished facts
acceplance.

With regard 10 such specified faciual arguments, the new defense counsel for the first
accused, attorncy Ziko Krunié, gave his cominents on 11 March 2008, and upheld the
original proposul by his client’'s defense, numely that the Prosccutor's Office Motion be

relused as unfounded.

On the same day, the defense counscl for the second-accused also gave his comment and
maintained his first response, additionally emphasizing that the paragraphs referved to in the
Judgment in the Mitorad Krugjelac case concemed the command responsibility, with '
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his cliecm Mito3 Radié was not charged. and thai nonc of the three stated cases has nothing
to do both in terms of space and time with the evenis for which the accused Milos Radié
was tric.

However, on 15 March 2008, the defense counsel for the accused Mirko Todorovié,
atiomey Ziko Knnié, filed the proposal to accept the established facts, namely the facis
rcferved 10 in paragraphs: 311, 312, 314, 315, 320 and 709 of the ICTY Judgment in the
Momcilo Krajisnik case, number 1T-00-39-T of 27 June 2006.

According 1o the averments referred 10 in the proposat, the proposed facts are relevant 10 the
presentation of the context of the events at the time for which Mirko Todorovié is charged,
and alithough the Judgment in the Momdilo Krajisnik casc has not become final, these facts
can be taken inlo consideration since they were not the subject of an appeal from the
Judgment.

In deciding about the forcyoing proposuls, the Court was led by the following:

an) Applicable Liaw — Acceptance of the Established Facts
Article 4 of the Law on Transler reads as follows:

“At the request of a party or proprio motu, the courts, afier hearing the parities. may decide
10 accept as proven those fucts that are established by legally binding decisions in any other
proceedings by the ICTY or 10 accepr documeniary evidence from proceedings of the ICTV
relating 1o matters ol issue in the current proceedings.”

The Count found that the formal requirement referred 1o in Anicle 4 requesting that the
parties be granted a hearing, was satisiied.

Anticle 4 provides the Courl the discrelion 10 decide whether 10 accept the proposed facts,
Neither the Law on T'ransfer nor the Criminal Procedurc Code of Bosnia and Herzegovina
esinblishes any criteria based on which the Coun could exercise its discretion,

Anicle 4 of the Law on Transfer is drafied similarly to the ICTY Rule 94 (8) of the Rules of
Procedure and Evidence.! Therefore, the ICTY casc law concerning this provision can
ensurc the convincing guitlelines for the interpretation and applicalion of Anicle 4 of the
Law on Transfer.

in the Decision in the I’ro.secmor v, Moméilo Krajisnik casc (Decision in the Krajisnik
case), the following eriteria’ for the ndjudicated facts accepiance are siated, namely that the
fact:

! Rule 94(13) reeds as follows: “At the request of o pany or proprio motu, o ‘Trisl Chamber, afler hearing the partics. may
decide 10 ke judicinl notice of adjudicaied facis or docunxentary cvidence from other procvedings of the Tribunal relating
to matterx ot issuc in the curmrent proceedings,”

This principle is common in intemmional criminal low. The Rules of Procedure and Evidence of the Special Coun in
Sr:rrn Leonc, for cxample. comains an almost ideniical provision as Ruk 94 (B), .
! Prosecutor v, Krjisnik, case number IT-00-39-PT. Decision on Prosecution Motions for Judiciol Notice of Adjudlcated
Facis and for Admission of Wrinen Siatements of Winesses pursuant o Rule 92bis, of 28 February 2003. All ICTY
Pancls did nol formulate these criterin in the some manner. See, for example, the Prosceutor v. Popovié et al, case number
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() 1 is distinet, concrere and idemifiable;

(W) it is restricted 1o feecruad findings and docs not include fegaf chamcierizations
(i) it was comrested at trial and forms part of a judgment which has either nor been
appealed or has been finally senled on appeal; or

(iv) it was conrested ol trial and now (orms pant ol a judgment which is under appeal,
but lalls within issues which are nof in dispute during the appeal;

{v) it does nor atrest to criminal responsibilitv of the Accused;

(vi) it is not the subject of (reasonable) dispuie between the Parties in the presem
case’;

(vii) it is not based on plect agreements in previous cases; and

(viia) it does not impact on the right of the Accused 1o a fair wial.

3.

The Count would add the following 1o the criteria established in the Decision: in order to
accept the fact as established it must not be a conclusion, an opinion or an oral testimony; it
must contain the ICTY essential findings that are not significantly alicred; and it inust be
established in the proceedings in which the accused had a common interest with the accused
in this case and in which the accused is guaranieed the right 10 a defense counse! and also
ihe right and a possibility 1o defend himsclf on his own from the charges against him. Sce,
for cxamplc, the Popovic casc, as referred to above.,

The Coun also finds, same as the Iniemational Criminal Tribunal Tor Rwanda did in 1he
Karemera case, that it would not be appropriate to interpret the foregoing criterion (v) to
such a widc exient so as 10 give it the pAimacy over the rules allowing the adjudicated facts:

“The Appeals Chamber. however. has never gane so for as to suggest that judicial notice
under Rule 94(B) camnor extend 10 facts that “go directlv or indirectiv™ 1a the criminal
responsibility of the accused (or thar “bear” ar “touch” thereupon). With due respect 1o
the Triol Chambers that have so concluded, the Appeols Chamber cannot agree with this
proposition, as its logic, if consistently applied. wonld render Rule 94(B) o dead lener. The
purpose of a crinminal irial is 10 adjudicaie the criminal responsibility of the accused. Facts
that are not related. directlv or indirectly. 10 that criminal responsibility are not relevant to
the question 10 be adjudicated at trial. and, as noted above, thus may neither be established
by evidence nor throngh judicial nmice. ™ (Deleted guotation)®

{T-05-38-T. Decision on Proseeinion hlotions for Judicial Notice of Adjudicaied Facy, of 26 Scpiember 2006, paragraphs
3+ 14 (Decision in the Popovié case).

7 [v is a1 flly clew whot constitutes 4 kegul churdererigic. In the reasoning of itx version of the same standasd. the Panel
wrote in the Popovié ease tho it only upheld the suggestion of the Pancl in the Krafisnik case, and that in any case it
shoukl be examined individuolly. Decision in the Popovid cuse. supm, par. 10.

* Sex also Proseciitor v, Sloboctan iosevid, case number 1T-02-34-AR?).5. Deciston on the Interlocutary Appeal of the
Office of the Prosecutor ngainst the Decision of the Trial Chamber (of 10 April 2003) upon the Prosecurion Motion for
Judiclal Notice of Adjudicated Facts (18 October 2003) (the Declsion in the Alifafevié cnse). Disscrting Opinian of Judge
Shahsbudden.

¥ Sce Prosecutor v, Krajidnlk, cose number 1T-00-)9-PT. Decision ou the Third and Fourth Prosecition Movon Jor
Judicini Notice of Adjudicated Facrs. of 25 March 2003, This \ext wag inrer alfo, opplied in the Decision in the Linbinac
case, referred to obove, ond the Progecuror v. Enver Hadtihusannvié und Amir Kubura. cuse number 1T-01-47-T, Decislon
on Prosecution Mation for Judiclol Novica of Adjudicated Facis upon the Motion filed by the defense counsel
accused HadHhasanovié amd Kubura et 20 Janwary 2005, af 13 Aprit 2005,

¢ Prosecuor v. Karemere ¢t al., case number MKSR-93-14.ART3(C), Deeision on Interlocuiory Appeat of
Jrom ihe Decision the Prosecution Motion for Judicial Notice of Adjudicuted Faces, 16 June 2006. par. 48
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Accordingly. the Panel correctly concluded that the facis indicating the acis, the behavior or
the memial state of the accused cannot be aceepted as established facts, However, the facts
indicating the criminal responsibility of the accused in other ways (for example, the
existence of a widespread and sysiematic auack in the criminal prosccuuon upon the
charges for the crimes against humanity) can be accepted as established facis.’

The Court upholds such perception, and only adds that the traditional rule against excess
excludes the interpretation of Article 4 of the Law on Transfer by which this Anicle would
bc made a dead letter. Insicad, the couns are led by this traditional rule to conclude thar the
intention of the authors of the Law on Transfer is 10 give a meaning 10 Article 4, and 10 the
extent in which the foregoing interpretation of the fifth principle referred to in the Krajisnik
case would make Article 4 irrelevant, the Court is prevented from adopting it. Indeed, the
rule prohibiting excess would pnmarily preveni the Panel in the Krajisnik case 10 include
such factor in its test, had they really intended 10 prevent the adjudication of any relevant
fact.

In applying Article 4, the Count inust also esiablish & balance between the judicial economy
and the right of the accuscd 10 a fair tnial and 1he presumpiion of innocence referred to in
Article 6 ol the ECHR, and 1he procedural guaraniees referred 10 in Anicle 6 of the CPC
BiH. Due 10 these reasons, the Coun of BiH reiterates that the accepiance of established
facts as “proven” pursuani io the criteria referred 10 in the Krajisnik case does nol release
the Proscculor from his burdcn 10 provc, nor docs it in any way dccrecasc the presumption of
innocence®. The acceptance of a certain fact as proven only means that the Prosecutor has
satisfied his burden of convincing with regard 10 a cenain fact, and that he does not have to
provc it any funther during the presentation of the Defense cvidence. The aceused withholds
the ngh( to contest any of the accepled facts in his defense from the charges pressed against
him®, and also any factual assertion offered in support of the charges and with regard 1o
which the Prosccutor adduced the evidence. If the accused actually conleslts any esiablished
fact, the Prosccutor must then adduce additional evidence so as 1o dispute the coniesis of the

T Ibid. par. 30, se¢ the Decision i the Popovié case, par. 1213, and panticularly foownotc 45 (stoiing that ik proposed fact
conceming the existence of a terrot campaign against refugees, Hosnian Muslims which does not fit into the namow
exemption prohihiting the ecocpionee of mijudicated facts cancemning the acis. behavior ar meattel sinte of the accused).
Sce ulso the Prosecutor v, Galid, case number 1T-98-29-AR7).2. Decision on Iniertocuiory Appes! cocneming Hule 92 bix
{C} 7 Junc 2002, par. 8.9 (in which i1 is concluded that it is allowed to occept as adjudicnied the facts conceming the acis
and behavior ol those whose superior was the accused, even when the prosccution continued in pan with the theory of
responsibility of tre superior): the Prasecuror v, Drogoje Pannevié case No. N-KRZ 05/16. Judgment upon the Appeal.
- TR

{27 Octaber 2006). (The exisience of o widespreod and systematic auack againgt non-Scrb civilians in the staied territory
constitules just such genemt foct which is clenr. precise and as such does not confirm the criminal responsibility of the
acoused). Bul sce olso the Prseculor v. 2elfko Mejokié ef al. Case, IT-02-85, Decision upon the Prasecution AMotion for
Judiciaf Notice of Adjudicarcd Facts pursugnt to Rule $4 (B). | April 2004, when the Pancl refused 10 nccept as
adjudicated fucts in relotion to the existence of an armed conflict based on the consideration of the facts vs “too wide,
tmdennous and tha they contoin 9 legel characterization of the focs”

! See, for cxample. the Salabinku v. France case. Furopean Count of Humon Righu (7 October 1998} who pn.scmcd his
view in the relevant pant that the trnsfer of the burden (o prove on 1he accused in cenoin circumsiances does not constitute
o violmion ol the presumption of innocence os gunraniced by the European Convention when it is resticied 10 “reasonoble
baundaries which ke into account the imponance of the manter & issue and the potection of ihe right of the secused, id,
par. 28, and that the accuscd is not lefl “cntirely without the means for defense™, or to inerfere with the capaciiy of the
gourt io frecly evaluute the cvidence tendered by the panties 10 the procesdings, id, par.29).

? Sec the Prosecuior v. Slobodnn Alifoevié case, number IT-02-54-AR23.5, Decision an the interiocutary Appeal of the
Office of the Proseciior againgl the Decision of the Trial Chamber (07 10 April 2003) upon the Prosecution Aoilon for
Judiciol Noiice of ddjudicated Facis (28 Qciober 2003).
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Defense. Similarly 10 this, the esiablished facts, if accepied, shall be viewed in the light of
the overall circumstances and all the evidence addueed from all the sources. They are not

dispositive nothing more than any other fuct.'®

Based on the foregoing, Article 6 of the LCHR or Articie 6 of the CPC BiH is not violated
by the practice of established facts. In addition (o this, the Cownt applics the rule retermed 1o
in the Krajisnik case before the ICTY which, inter alia, ensures the refusal of the proposai
1o accept the adjudicated Jacis if the acceptance of such proposal would “afiect the right of°
the accused to a fair trial®. Furthermore, by offering the party objecting the Motion, namely
the definse, 10 contest the motion concemed at the main trial, and a possibility to hil¢ a
subimission in response, the Court underiook additionul ineasures so as to ensure the fairness
and the imegrity of the current proceedings. When the Count ensures the required procedural
rights for the Dclense, then it can decide 10 accept as proven the facts established under the
final decision in the other proceedings before the ICTY pursuant 1o Article 4 ol the Law on
Transfer.

ah) Acceptunce of Written Evidentiary Materials

The Court also finds that the Prosecutor’s Ofice requests the Court 10 accept the writien
evidentiory maicrial used in the proceedings belore the ICTY. The Court found that in this
situation, the Law on Transfer is the law appropriate to be applicd. The Law on Transfer is a
lex specialis and it is designed with an objective (o remove any risk that the CPC Bil
renders the ICTY ewvidence inapplicable. The fex specialis status constitutes special niles
that have primacy over the CPC BiH in relation 10 the evidence collecied by the ICTY, the
rules on admissibility and use of such evidence."’

Anicle 3 (1} of the Law on Transicr reads as follows:

"Evidence collected in aecordance with the ICTY Stenitte and RolE may be wsed in
proceedings before the courts in Bitl. ™~

The Coun linds this provision (conceming the writien evidentiary imatcrial) a supplement to
Anicle 4 of the Law on Transfer which provides, as in the established facts case “the courts
may dccide to accept documentary cvidence from proccedings ol the ICTY relating o
maiters at issue in the currem proceedings.™

Anticle 8 of the Law on Transler prescribes that this documemation can be aceepied in the
proceedings before the courts and that it shall be deemed as obtaincd by compeient loeal
authorities as long as it is "Originul documents, cenified copies, cenified electronic copies
and copies auithenticated as unaliered in comparison to their originals®. The Count does nol

*® Sec the foregoing. foownote 8. par. 42 .. ... the eifect is only 10 relieve the Prosceution of its initial burden 1o producy
cvidenee on e point: the defense may then put the point inte question by introducing reliable and credibhe evidence 10 the
comrary. This approach Is consistent with pructice in national jurisdictions: wherens judicial novice of facts of commun
knowledge moy be treoted as cunclusive. the final sdjudicution of facts in judicial proteedings i ireaied as conclusively
binding only, ot most, on the partics to those proceedings.”

"' Prosecutor v. Gofko Jankovié. case number N-KR-05/181, Vendict, 16 February 2007, pg.22, fec of
Ailo Stupar et al., casc number N-KR-05/24. Decision on the vcecptence of the evidener collcel
PDecember 2006, p 4. ;
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see anv other requirement in the Law on Transfer or in the CPC BiH related to the
acceprance of the written evidemiary materials obiained fron the 1ICTY.

it is 1ken into account thai one of the documents proposed by the Prosecutor is a witness
statement, the Court will now consider the requirements to accepl such forms of evidence.

The Court is of the opinion that Anticle 273 (2) of the CPC BiH prescribes the possibility
that records on testimony given: during the investigative phasc may be read or used us
evidence ai the main trin) without examining the persons who gave those testimonies. This
cxemption {rom the genernd rule of direct prescriation of evidence can be approved if, inver
alia, thosc persons “arc dead, afTecied by mental illness, cannot be found or their presence
in Court is impossible or very difticult due 10 imponunt reasons.”

Furthermore, Anticle 7 ol the Law on Transfer prescribes the possibility that the witnesses’
statements given 10 the ICTY investigalors during the investigation may be read before the
counts in Bil. In addition to this, Anicle 5 (1) of the Law on Transfer prescribes ihe
acceptance of the transcripts of testimonies given before the ICTY, and also that the records
of out of irial depositions ol wiinesses made before the ICTY are acceplable before the
courts in Bil.
Nevertheless, Article 5 (3) of the Low on Transfer provides that this admissibility shall not
prejudice the defendant’s right to request the autendance of witnesses for the pumpose of
Cross-exnnination.
Regardicss of whether the cvidence is accepled pursuant to the CPC Bild or the Law on
Transler, it is siill the subject of the Count’s evaluation rcgnrding tfaimess, reliability,
credibility and correciness as eslablished by the most imponant requirements referred 10 in
the ECHR."
With regard 10 Article 6 (3) of the ECHR, the Europcan Coun cstablished that courts must:
“establish whether the procecdings in their entirety, including the manner ot the evidence
taking, were fair. 3 This includes, pursuant to Article 6 (3) of the ECHR, the defendant’s
right 10 confront the witness and the evidence at the publuc hearing and the imponant right
10 comesi the cvidence and cross-cxamine the witness,'
However, these rights of the accused are not unlimited. The European Court did not
eslablish any proving rules, but it will cheek whether the accused was denied the right 10 a
fair trial by the evidence accepied by a violation of the righis of the accused. For example, if
the witness testimony is exclusive, or is the basis for the conviction of the accused 1o »
decisive extent, and it he did not have an opponunity, in any phasc of the investigation or
the trial, to ¢ross-examine or 10 examine thc stated wilness, this lack of confrontation will
deprive him of certain aspects of a fair trial."*

This view is also contained jn Anicle 3(2) of the Law on Transfer which stipulates that
“The counts shall not base a conviction of a person solely or 10 a decisive extent on the
prior statements of witnesses who did not give oral evidence at 1rial.”

Frbm:mor v. Gofko Jankovié. cuse number X-KR-03/161. Vendict 16 Februany 2007, pg.2).
kono\'sln Holland. Judgmenr, 20 November 1989, request number 11454135, par. 39,

Unrbcm. Messegue and Jabardo v. Spain, Judgnwent. 6 Decomber 1988, request number 10580783, par. 78
" Satd; v. France. Judgment 20 Seprember 1993, request number | 484 7/89, par.dd,
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The Count turther staies that in the proceedings before the ICTY, pursuant 10 Rule 92bis of
the Rules on Proccdure and Evidence: A “I'rial Chamber may admit, in whole or in part,
the evidence of a witness i the form of a writien statement in lieu of oral wstimony which
goes 1o proof of a matter other than the acts and conduct of the accused as charged in the
indictment.” This can be done, for example, in cases when a relevant hisiorical, political or
military framework is ensured by the witnesses’ evidence.

ac) Conclusions of the Court
Bearing in mind the forcgoing, the Court decided as follows:

Wilh regard 10 the Motion of the Prosccutor’s Ollice 1o accept as evidence the documents
referred 10 in items B-2 and B-3 of the Motion, the Coun finds that these documenis do not
difYer in any way from the other documents which the paniics to the proceedings con ofler.
They in fact do not dilfer from any other cerlified and relevant document which the
Prosecutor’s OfTice could obtain from the ICTY. The Court found that the Defense did not
objcct 10 the accepiance of these documents as cvidence on any ground referred 10 in the
CPC Bill (for example, relevance, credibility and lawfulness). Funhermore, the Court found
irrelevant the fact that these documents hud been already uscd in the proccedings before the
ICTY. The greatest responsibility of the Coun will be 10 decide on the credibility, the
weight and the evidentiary value of all the evidence 10 be adduced before the Court.

With regard to the statement of Miroslay Deronjié in the Blagojevié case referred to in item
B-1 of the Motion, the Court would firstly like to note that the Defense failed 10 explain
why it objected 10 the acceptance of this statement: they only explain the objection against
the evidence referred 1o in the Deronjic and Krajisnit cascs. Nevenheless, the Court
considered the proposed statement based on the statutory provision reluted to this, and
primarily concluded thai 1he statement had not been given during the investigation. Deronji¢
pave this siatement on 25 November 2003, while the trial against Deronji¢ had already
siancd on 13 May 2003. The Court also opines that this staicment cannot be considered a
written record of the testimony given before the ICTY or the record of a deposition before
the ICTY pursuant 1o Ruie 71 of the ICTY Rules on Procedure and Evidence. The Coun
concluded that these facts put out of force the application of Anicies 5 and 7 of the Law on
Transier and Anicle 273 (2) of the CPC Bild. In this manncr, the general provisions reterred
to in Anicie 3 and 4 of the Law on Transfer remain, and ualso the above mentioned
requirements referred to in the ECHR.

The Count cstablished that Dcronji¢ had dicd last ycar in the prison while serving his
sentence. Therefore, any cross-examination related to his stitement became impassible.
However, alihough the Coun is not bound by the ICTY Rules on Procedure and Evidence,
and 1aking into account the content of the statemeni, the Court concluded thai the statement
is iorc an cvidence of cenain matters rather thun the acts and behavior of the accused as
charged in the indictment. Beuring in mind the requirements referred to in Acticle 3(2) of
the Law on Transfer, the Coun will therefore accept this siatement as evidence.

The Coun therefore accepied the following cvidentiary material used in the proceedings
before the ICTY:
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1. From the Vidoje Blagojevié case, number IT-02-60 of 17 January 2005 - the statement of’
witness Miroslav Deronji¢ of 25 November 2003; that the autack ngainst civilian non-Serb
poputation in the icrritory of East Bosnia and Herzegoving, including Bratunac, was
widespread and orgunized undoubtedly ensues from the statement of this witness, which
contains 638 pages ol text, which particularly ensues from paragraph 63 which reads as
follows: “There exisied a cerain chronology, a cenain sequence of evenis that occurred.
Similar things happened in Bijeljina, Zvomik and to the exicnt unknown to me, in Viscgrad.
First volunteers would come 10 a cenain place and then the rest would follow: murders,
liquidations, intimidalion of inhabitants, panic, eic. Thereupon, the anny would arrive, the
JNA with a deceptive intention 10 establish order. However, alt this would cause the
intinidation of inhabitants, Musluns, after which the cthnic cleansing would follow. The
fact that the Anny arrived in Bratunac 1wo or three days alier the arrival ol volunteers,
indicaics that the same scheme of events was 10 occur in Bratunac as well. All these events
were devised with the goal that Serbs 1ake over the power, and &ll this is connected with the
implememation of thc Plan A and the Plan B and the creation of Republika Smska™ (Tape
T000-2073, pages 33-34 ol the English transcript).

SUD BOSNE | HERCEGOVINE

2. From the Airostav Deronji¢ case, number IT-02-61-S of 30 March 2004:

u) Decision on the Strutegic Goals of the Serb People in BiH, number 02-130/92 ol 12 May
1992, which also conlirms the exisience ol the widespread and systemalic atiack which
should have as a resuli the esiablishment of a corridor in the Drina River valiey, and thereby
the climination of Drina as the border between the Serb states.

b) Instructions for the Organization and Activity of the Organs ol the Serb People in Bosnia
and Herzegovina in Exiraordinary Circumslances of 19 December 1991, from which the
manner and the structure of organization of Bosnian Serbs in the planning of a widespread
and systemaric atiack against non-Serb population ensues,
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3. From the Momdile Krajisnik casc, number 11-00-39 ol 27 August 2006:

a) Decision Declaring Exiraordinary Siiuwation due 1o Imminem Danger of War in the
Territory of the Secb Bill of 16 April 1992, from which it cisues thm due o the
extraordinary situation the temitorial defense of the Serb Bilt was cstablished, gencral
mobilization ordervd in the entire 1erritory of the Serb BiH and that all miliary conscripts
must be put at the disposal of the municipal s1afls of the SBiH.

b) Order of the Crisis S1afT of the Municipality of Bratunac on General Mobilization of
16 April 1992 from which it cnsucs that during the critical period in the territory of the
Municipality Bratupac a general mobilization of the Serb peopli was declarzd (abow which.

as further {ollows, the accused speak)

¢) Order of the Crisis -Suaft of the Municipatity of Brawunnc prohibiting activities of all
paramilitary formations and illegal citizens in the territory of the Municipality Bratunae of
} May 1992, from which it ensucs thal during the critical period in the territory of the
Municipality Bratunac, the Anny of the S Bil (VRS) was the only one witl legal activilies.
whose imembers were the accused as well.

d) The Bill Population Ceasus from April 1991 from which undisputable changes in the
national composition of the entire BiH population, including Bratunac, ensue,

Acceplance of the established facts referred 10 in items A-1. A-2 and A-3 of the Motion is
rcfused because the Court finds that the proposed Judgments concem the cvents in differem
paris of Bosnio, and thui therefore they are nol relevant to the allcgaiions referred 10 in the
Indiciment,

The Count finds that the asscrtion of the Prosccutor’s Oflice, that the Pancl in the Momcila
Mandié case in fact accepicd the fucts from the judgmenis in the Krnojelac and Kunarace
cases, 15 not founded. Momeilo Mandi¢ was charged because of the responsibility lor the
events which occurred in the Correciional Facility in Foda, thus there is & visible, albeit
gcographical connection with the judgments in the Krngjelac and Kunarae cases. However,
the current proceedings conducied against the Aceused do nol have such a connection with
the evenis described in these judgmems.

On the other hond, in deciding upon the proposal of the defense counsel for the accused
Mirko Todorovic to accept the established facis from the ICTY Judgment in the Moméile
Krajisnik case, the Count decided 10 accept pans of the following pargraphs of the
Judgment IT-00-38-T:

). Puragraph 311: “On 16 April, the TO in Brutunac was mobilized and in the following
days, Arkan's and $Sedelj's paramilitary units, and a JNA unit under the command of
Captain Reljié, arrived in the municipality.”

2. Paragraph 312: “Scrb authorities issued a 29 April deadlinc by which non-Serbs, almost
exclusively Muslims, had to sign oaths of loyalty to Serb rule in the municipality, Most
Muslims had lefl Bratunac municipalily by that date. Serb soldiers looted the abandoncd
_ Muslim propenies.™

3. Paragraph 320: “The Chamber finds that already between 10 and 29 April 19§

the Muslim population leNl the municipality due 10 threats by Serb paramilitary
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4. Paragraph 709: “Although the Chamber linds that this was the general pattern followed in
the municipalities, (L recognizes that there were differences, mosily depending on the cthnic
composition of the municipality in question. In municipalities where Muslims were a
majority and had control over local institutions, such as Braiunae, Rogatica, Vlasenica, and
Zvomik, local Serb civilians were cvacuated, whereupon Serbian paromilitary forces
faunched attacks, expelling the Muslims and Croats and repopulating the areas with
displaced Scerbs.™

The lacts established in the foregoing paragraphs satisfy the critcria for the acceptance of
cstablished facts, as deseribed in the introductory pari of the text.

On the other hand, the Court did not accept the fucts established in paragraphs 314 and 315
of the Judgment against Mom¢éilo Kmjisnik.

To wit, in paragraph 314, the concreic cvent was cstablished during which a panicular
person had been killed, which in tenns of ime and space is not connected with the charges
against Mirko Todorovi¢ and Milo§ Radié referred 1o in the Indictment.

Paragraph 215 also establishes a situation which in tcrms of time and space is not connccted
with the charges laid down in the Indiciment againsi Todorovi¢ and Radié. or rather it refers
10 the exisience of prisoners in the Muk Karad?ié school in Bratunac, during the penod from
1110 14 May 1992, inctuding a person unknown 10 our case.

For all the {oregoing reasons, the Coun decided 10 accept in pant both proposals.

b) Manner of witness examination and the Decision refusing the proposal filed
pursuant to Article 273 (2) of the CPC BiH

ha) All the witnesses in this case were examined during the public main trial, without any
special proiective measures or facilitnted testimony prescribed under the CPC BiH and the
L.aw on the Protection ol Witnesscs under Threat and Vulnerable Witnesses.

Howcever, on 7 April 2008, 1wo witnesses (or the Delense suinmoned for thal day expressed
their fear of the public disclosure of their names and photos.

These witnesses arc of the smue ethnicity as the victims and their neighbors, who although
being afraid that their cnvironment would not understand i1, agreed 10 give their statements
at the main trial belore this Court, but they asked for the protection of their identity from
bouly print and elecirunic media.

The Prosecutor of the BiH Prosecutor's Office did not oppose this proposal, and therefore,
before the beginning of these wilnesses examination, the Court rendered and publicly
announced the decision that the names and photos would not be reproduced in public, as
well as the DV recording of the trial of 7 April 2008, with regard 1o the part conceming
these 1wo witnesses.

hh) ln deciding upon the Prosecuior’s Office Motion of 14 April 2008 10 read out pursuant

1o Anicle 273 (2) of the CPC Bild during the main trial the statement of the witness who
although hidden," watched ‘from the direct vicinity the incriminating event, Abdulah
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Sulejmanovié, who dicd on 21 June 2006, the Court heard the defense counsels for the
Accusced who explicitly objected to this motion, and on 18 April 2008 rendered the detision

relusing the Motion.

The proposed statement was given before the police organs, naincly the Canton Samjevo
Mol, on 12 November 2004, number 02/2.2.240/04, 1hat is, without the obligatory
instructions and cautions prescribed by the Criminal Procedure Code that énsure the
lawfulness of the siatement 1aken from the witness in such manner.

On the other hand, this statement was not given following a summons 1o icstily in the
investigation which was conducted against the Accused, but scll-initiatively, in 2004, while
the investigation into the incriminining events was opened no sooner than in 2005.

In considering the loregoing pursuant to Article 273 (2) of the CPC BiH, which prescribes
under conain circumstances the use of the records given “in the investigation™, the Coun
decided 10 refuse the proposul 10 read oun the statement of witness Abdulah Sulejmanovic.

¢) Decision of the Court to Conflront the Witnegses

During the main 1rial held on 14 April 2008, when winess Ljubida Todorovi¢ gave his
statlemem as n wiiness (or the Prosecution, the explicii inconsisiency became obvious
between the statement of this witness given during the investigntion, namely on 12 Junc
2007 on the premises of the Police Station in Bratunac, when following the order by the
BiH Prosecutor’s Qffice the witness was examined by an investigator of the Siawe
Investigation and Protection Agency, and the statement given during the main trial.

According to the witness, this inconsisiency wus a resull of the pressure and the threwms
under which the stalement was (aken by the SIPA investigator.

‘The Prosccutor introduced the disputed statement pursuant 1o Anticle 273 (1) of the CPC
BiH, and the defense for the first-accused and the second-accused contesied the introduction
of the statement concemed by assening that: the stalement was taken by an unauthorized
organ; that it was obviously taken under pressure and threats, that the record was not made
in accordance with thc CPC provisions conceming records, and that the cxamination lasied
for 6 hours while the record was made on only three pages. which obviously points 10
cedain irregularities.

The Prosccutor considered these objections unfounded. e presented the disputed statement
to witness Ljubi3a Todorovié, afier which the wiiness conlirmed his signature on each and
every page of the siatement.

Baring in mind all the foregoing, panticularly the CPC provisions conceming the obligation
of the record taking, the manner of its taking and #ts content, namely Anicles 151 - 154,
from which it ensued that the SIPA invesiigator correctly kept and made the record, that he
was authorized to conduct investigation alone and to make the record (which affecied the
examination duration and the length of the record), and also the fact that the wiiness
conlirmed his signature on the dispuicd siatement — the record, and primarily in orde
cstablish the real situation known 0 witness Ljubisa Todorovié, the Cournt accep
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introduction of the record on witness examination for Ljubisa Todorovié, number { 7-04/2-
04-2-608/07 of 12 June 2007, while the final evaluation of credibility of both staiements of
this witncss will be presented in section 6.¢ of the Verdict.

On the other hand, in order 10 cstablish the truth, panticularly bearing in mind the grave
accusations against the authorized official person of the State Invesiigation and Proiection
Agency, the Coun also decided 10 summon witness Bajro Kulovac, the investigator who had
examined the witness Ljubida Todorovi¢ on the premises of the PS Brawmnac, for
examination on 18 April 2008,

Witness Ljubisa Todorovi¢ was again summoned before the Coun for the samc day, in
order to provide for his possible confrontation with the SIPA investigalor pursuant 10
Article 85(2) in conjunciion with Anticle 86(9) of the CPC BiH.

Considering that with regard to the decisive facts the statement of witness Bajro Kulovac
was not consistent with the statement of wiatness Ljubisa Todorovié, the Coun confronted
thesc two wilnesses on 18 Aprit 2008, and the evalualion of their statements will be given in
section 6.¢ of the Verdicl.

5. Applicable Law

With repgard (o the applicable subsiantive law, the Defense objecied 10 the application of the
Criminal Code of BiH emphasizing that the Criminal Code of the SFRY that was in force al
the time of the evenis concerned should be applied. The Defense considers thal the
application of any other law insiead of the CC SFRY that was applicabie during the period
relevant (o this casc constitutes a violation of the principle of lcgality. The Defense refers 1o
Anicle 7 (1) of the Europeun Convention and Article 15 (1) of the Iniernational Covenam
on Civil and Political Righis.

Anicle 3 of the CC BiH prescribes the principle of legality, namely that criminal offcnses
and criminal sanctions are prescribed onty by law, and that no punishmcnt or other criminal
sanclion may be imposed on any person for an act which, prior 10 being perpetraied, has not
been defined as a criminal offence by law or international law, and for which a punishmem
has not been prescribed by law. In addition to this, Anicle 4 of the Criminal Codc of BiH
prescribes that the law that was in eifect at the time when the criminal offence was
perpetrated shall apply 1o the perpetrator of the criminal offence; if the law has been
amended on one or more occasions afier the criminal offence was perpetrated, the law that
is more Icnient 10 the perpetrator shall be applicd.

Anrticle 7 (1) of the European Convention also preseribes the principle ol legality. Pursuant
10 Anicle 2.2 of the Constilution of BiH, the European Convention for the Protection of
Human Rights has primacy over all laws in BiH. Furthcnnore, this provision of the
European Convention prescrbes the genera principle prohibiting imposing a more severe
punishment than the one which was prescribed at the time of the commission of the criminal
offense, but it does not prescribe any application of the most lenient law.
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Article 4a of the CC Bil prescribes that Article 3 and Anicle 4 of the CC BiH do not
prevent trial and punishment of a person r an action or an omission that was at the time of
commission “considered a criminal offensy pursuant w general principles of internaional
lew,
Article 7 (2) of the European Convention] prescribes the same exemption prescribing that
paragraph | of the same Anticle “shall not hrejucdice the trial and punishment of any person
Jor any act or omission which, at the rimelwhen it was connnitied. was criminal according
1o the general principles of lew recognizdl by civilized nations ™. (See also Anicle 15 (1)
and (2) of the lmemationa! Covenant on {ivil and Political Rights which comains similar
provisions. The state of Bosnia and Herzegovina, as a successor ol Yugoslavia, ratificd this
Cowvenant.

This provides a possibility in the descrifed circumstances to depart from the principle
referred 10 in Anicles 3 and 4 of the |[CC BikH (and.Arucle 7 (1) of the Ewopcan
Convention}, and also Irom the applicatior] of the Criminal Code which was in force i the
time of the criminal offcnse commission gud the application of o more lenient law in the
proceedings constituting criminal offcnses pursuant 1o international law:.

In considering the objection of the Defensg, it should be stated that no provision of the CC
SFRY, that was applicable during the relejam periodl, addressed exclusively crimes against
humanity in the manner in which it is prescribed by Anicle 172 of ihe CC BiH. However,
taking into account other provisions of the|applicable substantive law, and aiso the gencral
principies of imemational faw, this objediion of the Defense could not be nccepied as
founded.

The Court points out that the criminal oflenses of which the Accused ure found guilty
constitute criminul oflenses pursuant 1o indrnational customary lnw and therefore Il under
“general principles of imernational lang” prescribed by Anicle da of the Law on
Amendments of the CC BiH, and “generd] legal principles of law recognized by civilized
nations ” preseribed by Article 7 (2} of the European Conveation, and therelore the CC Bild
can be applied in this case on the busis of tHese provisions.

iernational customary law and the attribution of
individual criminal responsibifity in the ppriod relevant for the Indicvment is, inver alia,
referred to in the Repont by the UN Secrethry Genern} pursuant 10 Anicle 2 of Resolution
808 of the Security Council of 3 May 1993, Intemational Legal Commission, Commentary
on the draft Code of Crimes agginst the Peifce and Security of Mankind (1996) and the case
law of the ICTY and ICTR. These instithtions find that thai the punishment of crimes
ogainst humanity constitutes an imperative among the intermational law standards or jus

The status of crimes against humanity in u

cogens (Imemational Law Cominission,
Responsibility for Intemational Unlawful

Commentary on the draft Anicles on Staic
fTenses (2001), Anicle 26). Therefore, it cnsues

as irrcfutable that in 1992 crimes again
cusiomary law,

humanity constituted a pant of intcmational

Furthermore, the fact that the criminal actions lisied in Article 172 of the CC Bil can be

also found in the law that was applicablc at

criminal offense commission, namely in Anicles 134, 141,
154, 155 and 186, namely thal the incriminating actions were also punishable 1
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criminal code applicable at the time, additionatly contributes to the conclusion of the Coun
regarding the principlc of legality.

Finally, thc application of the CC BiH is additionally justificd with the fact that the imposed
sentence is in any case more lenient than the capital punishment that was in force at the time
of the commission of the criminal ofTense whereby the principle conceming the period of
applicability of the criminal codc, that is, the application of a more lenicnt law, has been
salislied.

The foregoing is in accordance with the view of Scction 1 of the Appellaie Division of the
Court of I3il1 rcferred 10 in its Verdict in the Abduladhin Mektouf case, number KPZ 32/05
of 4 April 2006, and the Verdict in the Dragaje Paunovié case, number KPZ 03/16 of
27 October 2006. The Constitttional Court ol Bosnia and FHerzegovina considered this issue
in the appeal filed by A. Makiouf” (AP 1785/06), and in its Decision of 30 March 2007
stated: “08. In praciice, legistation in oll conntries of former Yugoslavia did not provide o
possibitiny of pronowmcing  either o semence of life imprisonment or long-term
imprisonment, as often done by the lwernationad Criminal Tribunal for the former
Yugoslavia (the cases of Krstic. Galic. eic.). At the same time, the concepr of the SFRY
Criminal Code was such that it did not stipulaie either long-term imprisomment or life
sentence but death penaliy in case of a sevious crime or a 15 vear maximum sentence in
case of a less serions crime. Hence, it is clear that a sanction cannot be separated from ihe
1otality of goals sougl 10 be achieved by the criminal policy at the time of application of the
law, ™ "69. In this comext. the Constitutional Conrt holds that it is simply not possible 1o
“eliminaie © the more severe sanciion wder both earlier and later laws, and apply vnly
vther. more leniem, sanciions, so thet thie most serious crimes would in practice be left
inadequately sanctioned.”

Also, the customary status of the criminal responsibility for crimes against humanity of
individual responsibility for war erimes commiued in 1992 is also confirmed by the UN
Secretary General'®, Intermational Law Commission'’, and the jurisprudence of the ICTY
and the Intemational Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda (ICTR)'™. Thesc institutions cstablished
that the criminal responsibility for the crime against humanity constituted an imperative
standard of international ki or juy COgem-."’ Therefore, it is indisputable that the crime
against humanity constituted in 1992 a pan of intemational customary law.

Principles of [ntemational Law recognized in the Resolution 95 (i) of the UN General
Assembly (1946), and also by the Intemationat Law Commission (1950) concem ithe
“Chaner of the Numberg Tribunal and Judgmenis of the Tribunal®, and thereby war crimes
in gencral, “Principles of Intemmational Law recognized in the Chaner of the Numberg
Tribunal and Judgiments of the Tribunal™, adopted by the Intermnational Law Commission in
1950 and delivered to the General Assembly prescribe in Principle | “Any person who

" N Secretary General Report pursuani to Prarageaph 2 of the Seeurbty Council Resolution 803 of 30 Mny 1993, pans M-
35, ond 4748,

" hwermational Lav Commission, Commentary on the drafi Law on Crimes agoinst the Peace and Securiry of Monkind

1996)
i' ICTY, Appellate Chamber. Tuw:fié case, Decisinn on the Defense iinteriocutory Appeal on Jurisdiciion. 2 Ociober 1995,
. 131 ICTY Triat Choanber, Judgment in the Tadié ease of 7 Moy 1991, par. 618-623.

* Intermarional Law Commisston, Commentary on the drufi Provisions concering State responsibilin for the unlovfil
acrlons purtuant 10 international lee (2001), Article 26.
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commits an act whicl constinmes a crime wnder imernational law s responsible therfore
and liahle 10 punishment.” Principle 11 also prescribes: “The fact thar imternal I does not
impose o penaliy for an act which constitmes a crime under imernational lew does noi
refieve the person who conmitted the act from responsibitity wnder imernational fene.™

Theretore, the criminal ofiense of crime against humanity should in any case be classitied
under “general principles ol intermational law® referved 10 in Articles 3 and 4. (1) of the CC
Bil. Therelore, regardless ol viewing il Irom the aspect of intermational customary law,
trenty low, or the “principle of intemational law®, it is indisputable that 1he crime againsi
humaniiy constituicd a criminal ofiense at the critical period, namcly that the principle of
legality was also satistied in 1erms of mellum crimen sine lege imd nalla poena yine lege.

Accordingly, the criminal offense of crimes apainst humanity should by all means be
classitied under “intemationat law®, that is “gencral principles of intermational law™ referrcd
10 in Articles 3 and 4. (a) of the CC BiH. Therefore, it is indispulable that the crime agains
humanity constitued a criminal oflense during the incrimination period.

6. Findings of the Court
2. General considerations with regard to the evidence evaluation

The Court evaluated the evidence in this case in accordance with the applicable procedurai
law, namely the Criininal Procedure Code of Bosnia and Herzegovina, The Court applied (o
the Accused the presumption of innocencee referred 10 in Article 3_of the CPC Bild which
embodies the fundamenta! legal principle so that the Prosecutor’s Office bears the burden of
proving the guill of the Accused, which must be proven beyond any reasonable doubi.

In evajunting the testimonies of the witnesses who iestified before the Coun, the Coun 100k
into account their conduct, behavior and character (0 the cxtent (0 which it was possible.
Regarding all the witnesses, the Court also 100k imo account the probability, the
consistency, the other evidence, and the circumstances of the case. Furthermore, during the
entire proceedings, the Count was aware of the fact that the witnesses® credibility depended
on ihcir knowledge conceming the lacts about which they testilied, their integrity, sincerity
and the fact that they obliged themselves 1o 1¢if the truth in terms of the oath they had given.

It is noi sufTicient that the witness only gives his staiement sincerely. The right question
regarding the statement by which the recognition is made is not whcether the statement was
given sincerely, but also whether it is reliuble. During the entire proceedings, the Trial Panel
was aware thay a certain uncenainly was present in Lthe depositions concerning the facts
which occurred sometimes (inany} years before the deposition giving due 1o the variability
of the human perceptions of traumatic cvents and their memories.

With regard 10 the indirect evidence, the Coun emphasizes that & view was adopied in the
Coun’s case law according 10 which the indirect evidence is admissible. In addition 10 this.
pursuant 10 Anticle 15 of the CPC Bitl, the Court is Irce in its evatuation of evidence. The
view of the Coun was that the Court must be satisfied that the stutements were reliable
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Furthermore, the evidentiary value of the indircct evidence will depend on the context and
the character of the siatement concemed and/or on whether the statement is also supported
by other evidence.

The Coun finds that the indircct evidence constilules the evidence on the facts concerning
the eveni or the criminal ofTense from which the act concerned logically arises. Since the
criminal offense was commiticd, by all indications, at the time when there were not many
witnesses at the crime scene, and since the possibility o determine the incriminating issues
by direct and explicit siatements of the eye-wilnesses or the irrefulable documents is
problematic or impossible, the indirect evidence can become a key clement not only for the
Prosccutor’s Office bui also for the Accused. Taken individually, such evidence can isell
bhe insuflicient for a cernain fact establishinent, but it considered in its entirety, then its
collective and cumulative characier can be a disclosing one, and sometimes a decisive one.

The documentary cvidence adduced during the main trial was not exiensive. Bearing in
mind its character of an indirect or a corroborating evidence, that is, the fact that it mostly
concems the evidence of objective nature confirming certain conditions, for exnmple, the
death of a certain person, a membership in the ammy, prior convictions, which constitute
public documents, and also the fact that the Defense did not coniest these “confinnations™,
the Count will not now scparately expiain the manner of evaluation and the use of this
evidence, because iis application will be stricily staled within the context of the linal
evaluation ol the decisive evidence related to the charges againsi ithe Accused.

Evaluation of the cvidemiary material admissibility which the Defense explicitly contested,
nainely the Witness Examination Record made by the SIPA investigator, is presented in
Section dc of the Verdict, while the evidentiary sirength of this evidence will be explained
in the text below, namely in Section 6.¢ herein,

The cvaluation of the evidentinry sirength of the documentary cvidence used before the
ICTY, and accepied as already explained at the Prosecutor’s proposal, will also be provided
in the text below:, specilically in Section 6¢.

h. Generul clements of the criminal offense of Crimes aguinst Humanity and the
awarencss of the Accused

The Accuscd arc charged with the criminal offensc of Crinics against Mumanity in violation
ol Article 172 (1) item h), in conjunction with ilems a) and I) of the CC BiH.

In order 10 qualify a ccnain offense as a crime against humanily, the law prescribes that in
addition 10 concrete clements of individual offenses, the Prosecutor’'s Office must prove
general or chapean clements of crimes against humanity, more preciscly:

|. the existence of u widespread or systematic atiack against civilian populaiion;

2. the awareness of the accused about the existence of such attock:

3. that the aciions of the accused constituted ¢ part of that atiack und that he was
mvare that his actions constitured the part of that antack.

The existence of a widespread or systematic attack in the territory of the Municipality ol
Bratunac, dirccied against the civilian Bosniak population, during which the incnminating
event occurred, was indispwably esieblished from ail the testimonies of the witnesscs, not
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only Tor the Prosecution, bul also for the Defense, who were heard during the main rial,
who consistently spoke about: the beginning of extraordinary events in the territory of their
municipality, the establishment of joint-neighbory’ guards, the general mobitization which
occurred on 16 Apnl 1992, the arrival of paramititary formations from Serbia and the JNA
aclivities, and the take-away of Bosniak population 10 the city stadium, afier which the
enforced rescuifement followed.

Such conclusion of the Court is supported by the documentary evidence used belore the
ICTY, which was accepted as relevani 1o this case, as already explained, in panicular: the
Decision Declaring Extraordinary Situation duc to inmineat Danger of War in the Tervitory
of the Serb BiH of 16 April 1992; the Order of the Crnisis Siaft of the Municipatiny of
Bratunac on General Mobilization of 16 April 1992; the Order of the Crisis Sialf of the
Municipality of Bratunac prohibiting activities of all parnmilitary formations and illeyal
citizens in the territory of the Municipality Bratunac of | May 1992; the Decision on the
Strategic Goals of the Serb People in BiH, number 02-130/92 of 12 May 1992; and ulso the
statement of wiiness Miroslav Deronji¢ of 25 November 2003, who as onc ol the active
participants of the events al the lime, presents the swnmary of the events within ithe
widespread and systematic atlack.

The exisience of the incriminaling wide and spread aulack ensues from the Incts esiablished
by the ICTY in the Momdilo Krujisnik case, which the Court accepted upon the proposal by
the Defense for the first-accused, as reasoned in the forcgomng 1ext. These are the facis
established in puragraphs 311, 312, 320 und 709 of the tudgment, number 1T-00-38-T of
27 September 2006. Such conclusion is particularly supponied by the fact esiablished in
paragraph 312: “Serb cunhorities issued a 29 April 1992 deadlive by which non-Serbs,
almost exclusively Muslims. had 10 sign oaths of loyaliy 10 Serb rule in the wumicipality.
Most Muslimx had lefi Bramnac municipality by that date.”

With regard 10 other obligatory key elements of crimes against humanity, having evaluated
the adduced evidence individually and munually, the Coun cstablished bevond any
reasonuble doubt that during the incriminating period the accused Mirko Todorovié and
Milo3 Radi¢ were members of the VRS and VP Brniunac, and that thereby thev were aware
of the widespread and organized atack against civilian Bosniak population, panicularly
against their neighbors, who are in fact the victims of the incriminating behavior of the
Accused.

This ensues not only lrom (he general situation ol the evidentiary proceedings, but also {fom
the testimonies of thc Accused themseives who emphasize 16 April 1992 as the day of
gencral mobilization in the werritory of the Municipality of Bratunac.

The Court concluded beyond any reasonable doubt that the actions of the Accused also
constituted a part of this attack, which will be cxplained in the texi below, whereby the
cssential clements of Crimes against Humanity in violation of Anicle 172 of the CC Bil
were satisfied.
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e, Charges against the Avcosed

The Court found thai, as members ol the Republika Sepska BiH Anny, on 20 May 1992
during the afiernoon hours, in the village ol Borkovac, the Municipality of Bratunac, in a
group with four other members of the Anny of Republika Sepska, including Nowak
Stjepanovié¢ aka “Krke™, the Accused participated in the arrest of a group of 14 (founicen)
Bosniak civilians, namely: Hamed Ali¢, Hamid Ali¢, Halima Alié, Maho Avdié, Hamedina
Ramié, Munib Sulejmanovié, Hajrudin Hasanovi¢, Hamed Velié, Fadil Sulegymanovi¢, Amer
Rami¢, Naser Suleymanovié, Muharem Salkié, Mehimed Jahi¢ and lbro Dzananovi¢ who
were hiding due 1o the fear of the anack by the Republika Srpska army and police in an
abandoned quarry, not far trom the village of Borkovace where most of them resided, and
thereafier 100k them in a line 1oward the village, when someone from the group of aitackers
killed Avdi¢ Maho with a shot from thc weapon who was at the back of the line, and
thercafier onured them by punching them, kicking them with boots all over their bodics,
seized all their money and valuable itcms, cursed them on a national basis, and therealier
100k them 10 a slope oward a nearby creek where they lined thein up with their faces tumed
toward the creek, and then shot them from behind their back, due 10 which their bodies fell
into the creck, on which occasion Flamid Alié, Halima Alié, Munib Sulejmanovié, Fadil
Sulejmanovié, Hajrudin Hasanovi¢, Hamed Veli¢, Hamedina Ramié were killed due 1o the
shots from the firears,

That within the widesprcad and sysiematic attack dirceted against the civilian Bosninks
from the Municipality of Bratunac, with the knowledge of such autack, and as the
accomplices, the Accused persecuted the civilian Bosniak population by amresting, torturing
and killing. whereby they commiued the criminal offense of Crimes against Humaniry in
violation of Article 172 (1) item h), in conjunction with items a), ¢) and f) of the Criminat
Code ot BiH, ail in conjunciion with Anticle 29 and 180 (1) ol the same Code.

The Court found indisputable the existence of a widespread and systematic atack as the
basic clement of the criminal ofTense of Crimes against Humanity, as cxplained in Section
6. h. of the rcasoning of this Verdict, which ensued not only from the testimonies given
during the main trial, the documentary evidence used in the proceedings before the ICTY,
but also from the facts adjudicated in the ICTY case against Momcilo Krajifnik, as accepled
upon the proposal by the Defensc for the first-accused.

The knowledge of the Accused that during the relevant period, in the territory of their
Municipality Bratunac, the widespread and systematic attack was launched against civilian
Bosniaks, thereby against their neighbors with whom they had extremely good-neighborly
relations (as pointed out by all the wilnesses, but also by the Accused themselves), ensues
not only from the general situation of extraordinary circumstances which had stancd aircady
in early 1992, but also Irom the fact that both the Accused were members of the Army of
Scrb Republic of BiH already since April 1992, which also ensues from the military 1D
rccords, namely: the military 1D record for the accused Mirko Todorovi€, number: 338/54
of 17 August 1994 indicating that the Accused has been kept in the Bratunac military
records since 15 February 1971, and that from |8 April 1992, within the Bratunac military
post VP 7042 Brawnac, he participaled in the war; and the military 1D record for the

Kraljice Jeleng be. 83, 71 000 Sarnjevo, Bosna i Hc_n:cgovino. Tel: 033 707 100, Foks: 033 707 225 . ?5_ .
Kpamiue Jeaene Gp. 88. 71 000 Copajeso. bocna n Xepueropnna, Ten: 033 707 100, ®axe: 033 707 225

Downloaded from worldcourts.com. Use is subject to terms and conditions. See worldcourts.com/terms.htm



SUD BOSNE | HERCEGOVINE CYA GOCHE ¥ XEPUEIMOBHHE

accused Mitod Radié, number: 123997, which indicates that the Accused was kept in the
Bratnac military records since 22 October 1980, and that he panicipaiced in the war from
18 April 1992 through 4 March 1994, and from 17 June 1995 through 12 September 1995,

all within the Bratunac military post 7042,

It was indisputably proved that the incriminating auiack on the group of civilians hidden in
the abandoned quarry ncar Borkovac occurred precisely on 20 May 1992 during he
aftemoon hours, which ensues not only from the chronological presenation of the
beginning of hiding and the final shelier in the quarry, but also from the fact that it was an
extretnely traumatic event which has stayed deep in the memorics ol all the witnesses.

It was also proved indisputable that the anacked group consisied of 14 members, civilians,
all Bosniaks, and that 8 of them were kilicd, namely that Maho Avdi¢ was killed on the way
to the exceution site, and the others by the firing squad, above the creek, facing their
executors.

This ensues from the 1estimonics of the witnesses — the survived victims from the group:
FHamed Alié, Nascr Sulejmanovié, Amer Ramié und Muharem Salkié, and the others — she
indirect witnesses for the Prosecution — the witnesses whose closest family members were
killed, nainely: Hamed Ramié, Safa Sulejmanovié, Elma Kaljevié, Safa Sulejimanovi¢,
Rusveta Sulejmanovi¢, Sadeta Hasanovié¢ and Zejneba Avdic.

The indisputability of the conclusion that 8 caplured civilians were killed also ensues from
the testimonies of witnesses Dane Lon¢arevié and Radojc Zivkovié, at the relevant time
members of the civil proection in charge of the ulility services.

To wit, witness Radoje Zivkovié remembers that in the crcek, near the house of Nedo
Markovié, they found 7 or 8 bodies, including fwo female bodics, namcly, as he says “one
of them was the woman who had worked in the Post Office in Brarunac”, and the other was
the body of o “young girl”, and that thereupon they put the bodies in black bags, loaded
them onto a iractor, and drove some 200-300m further away from the creek 10 somebody’s
counyard, where they buricd them. The witness pointed out in his estimony that among the
killed persons he had recognized Maho, snd also Halima Ali¢ and Hamedina Ramié,
Regarding the bodies of the killed persons, witness Dane Loncarevié also staied in his
testimony that he had driven the tractor in which Radoje Zivkovi¢ had pui, as far as he
remembered, 6 biack bags containing the bodies of the killed persons. He also poinied out
that he had unloaded the bodies into a pit dug out near the Sulcjmanovié family house.

Although 1he Defense contested the validily of 1he witness testimony of Radoje Zivkovig,
considering that the winess himself said that he had health problems caused by a stroke,
and thereafler by a severe infTic accident due to which he had been in a coma for around
6 hours, and that he used cenain tranquillizing 1ablets, the Court found the testimony of this
wilness acceplable and credible, considering thai during his giving evidence at the main trial
the wilness concemed showed that he had remembered the critical event extremely well,
and that his former iliness had no influence whaisoever on his understanding of the
proceedings in which he tesiified.

The Coun rendered such decision by considering this witness’ testimony in the contey
the testimonies of wilness Danc Lonéarevié, but aiso of witness Hamed Ramié, whg
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witness Radoje Zivkovié¢ hod helped 10 find the grave in which the body of his daughter
Hamedina had been buried.

This conclusion is also supported by the Exhumation Record carried owt at the locations ol
Repovac (Borkovac) and Suha, the Municipality of Bratunac, number KTA: 609/04 of
29 April 2004, and the identification records for the exhumed bodics marked as REP -1/ and
the following nuinbers: 1-B for Hajrudin Hasanovi¢ — bom in 1934; 2-B for IHalima Ali¢ -
born in 1949; 3-B for Munib Sulejmanovi¢ = bom in 1942, 4-B tor Hamid Ali¢ - bom in
1921; 5-B for Maho Avdi¢ ~ born in 1943; 6-B for Hamed Veli¢ — born in 1946; 7-B lor
Fadil Sulejmanovi¢ — born in 1957 and 8-b for Hamedina Rami¢ — bom in 1970.

Forensie analysis reponts for all the victims confinn that the ingurics had been caused by fire
amms, whilc this could not be continned 100 % in the case o Hamedina Ramié, which
neverthcless, bearing in mind all other evidence, particularly the testimonies of the
witnesses Amer Rami¢ and Hamed Alié, does not dispute the Coun’s conclusion concerning
the exccution of HMamedina Ramié by a firing squad.

h, howcver, appeared disputable whether, in the manner described in the amcnded
Indiciment, the Accused panicipated in the arrest and torturing of 14 civilians found in the
quarry ncar the village, namely whether they panicipaied in the killing of 8 persons.

However, from the consisient lestimonies of the survived victims fromy the group of
civilians, namely of: Hamed Alié, Naser Sulejmanovié, Amer Rami¢ and Muharem Salkié,
and the supponing testimonics of the indirect witnesses, namely: FHamed Ramié, Elma
Kaljevi¢, Sufa Sulejmanovié, Rudvela Sulejmanovié, Sadeta Hasanovié and Zejneba Avdié,
and panicularly from the testimony of witness Ljubifa Todorovié, who had been with the
Accused on that critical day, and of the Accused themselves who had not contested their
presence at the crime scene, the Coun drew its conclusion beyond any rcasonable doubt
concerming the incriminating participation of the Accused, namely that the Accused Mirko
Todorovi¢ and Milo3 Radi¢ were accomplices in the unlawful arrest of the altacked group of
14 civilians, their subscquent 1orture and the killing of 8 persons, which will be reasoned in
the text below.

In drawing such conclusion, the Count also considered the 1estimonies of the witncsscs for
the Defense, particularly the testimony of Milod Todorovi¢, and the witnesses who are closc
relatives of the accused Milod Radi¢.

During the entire proceedings, the Coun paid a spectal attention to the identity of the
Accused as the perpetrators of the eriminal offense concemed, in paniicular Milo§ Radié,
bearing in mind the fact that, according 1o the 1estimonies of all 4 survived victims from the
caplurcd group, this Accuscd had a ccnain type of cap — a mask on his head all the ume
uniil the moment of their being lincd up above the creek.

The identity was especially considered in the context of good-neighborly relations, due to
which, according lo the assertions of the Defense, it was impossible for the Accused 10
commit such crimc.

The Coun, however. csiablished beyond any reasonable doubt the identity of the Accused
Mirko Todorovié and Milos Radié, which will be explaincd through the further evaluation
of the testimonies of all the witnesses.
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As eslablished, the widespread and systematic anack against the non-Scrb civilian
population of the Municipality of Brawnac with the goal of expulsion had stared much
before the 20 May 1992 critical event.

Witness Flamed Alié remembers that he and his wife — AWS Halima, left their fanily house
in Borkovac, much betore the critical event, and thercalier, in scarch for a shelier with their
relatives in Hranéa, and thereupon in Suba, with the family of Hamed Ruamid, were expelled
(rom Suha on 10 May 1ogether with afl other Muslims.

The exile trip through the woods in the Suha surroundings, duripy which the refugees had
scattered in scveral directions, lasted undil 20 May 1992 for the proup which also included
the Ali¢ spouses.

On 20 May 1992, they were hidden in the abandoned quarry, in the creck, exhausied and
exposed to inhumane living conditions.

The witness remembers that it was slowly geuting dark and tha alf of a sudden a serrible
scrcam was heard “Throw the weapons down. hands up!™. The weapons, remembers the
witness, which they did not have.

He further states that a group of 6-7 soldiers, armed with automatic and scmi-antomatic
rifles had appeared among whom the wilness immediately recognized his neighbor Mirko
Todorovic.

Having no doubis even for a second concerning the recognition of his ncighbor Mirko
Todorovi¢ as one of the soldiers who atiacked them, the wiiness explains in the cross-
examination: “You see. that's « neighbor..... to me. in my radition, u neighbor is more
fmportant than a brother,

The witness undoubtedly knew the nccused Mirko Todorovi¢ and he recognized him on the
spot on that critical day.

The witness particularly emphasizes: “Nor even an American GPS could have found us. if ir
hadl not been for ithe infrabitants ™.

Thereafier, they were capiured, and in the line, looking down 10 the ground, taken 1o the
house of Abdulah Sulejinanovié, along which road, immediaicly by the creck, Maho Avdi¢
was killed. The witness did not see who had killed him, while at that inoment, the accused
Mirko Todorovi¢ walked beside the witness.

In front of the house ol Abdulah Sulgjmanovié, as he lurther siates, the captured persons
were met by another couple of soldiers, among whom the wiiness recognized Novak
Stepanovié¢ aka Krke. The wilness remembers that they staried mistreating them there,
"They requested us to take ont our money, gold. jewellery, and they started insulting us on
ethnic grounds”. The witness also remembers the sinp he had received from Krke, due to
which, as he subsequently found out, his tympanic membrane was damaged 60%.

However, what the witness panicularly remeinbers, and as he points out, what he will nos
forget while alive, is thai the mistreatment was carried out with terrible passion and
pleasure. :

The witness also remembers that two soldicrs, unknown to him, had singled out Mameding
Rami¢ - at the time a second-year-student at the Faculty of Philosophy in Surajevo, und 100k
her to the house.

He saw Hamedina next time in the creek. She was killed.

The witness remembers that a soldier taller than the others, with a mask on his head, was
present all the time while they were abused.
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Mali Ra3o, the person whom the witness knew only by his nickname uand whom he
describes as the person with dark complexion, was also there.

Afier the abuse in front of the family Sulejmanovié house, the remaining 12 persons were
taken in the dircction from which they had come earlier.

Aller their arrival in the creck vicinity, the masked soldier tried to climb up to the woods,
but he slipped and (el down. Then he ook ofT the mask, and the wiiness realized, as he
states, that another neighbor of his was hiding behind the mask - Milos Radié. The witness
emphasizes that they did not know each other 100 well. bul that he gave some money (0 the
accused Milo§ Radié¢ himseli as a lec for the telephone which had been installed in 1he
vitlage.

Furthermore, the witness remembers in his testimony that the captives were ordered to line
themselves up along the creek, with their faces wumed 10ward soldiers. At that moment,
although they had to keep their heads bowed down, the witness again saw the accused Milo3
Radié¢. The aceused stood in from of him.

At that moment, from the distance of around 3-6 m in a straight line, Mali Ra3o dug in his
riflc, cocked it and told the persons in the line 10 pray to God.

The witness deseribes that he and his wife held cach others hands.

The execution startied and the witness and his wife, hand in hand, feit down 1o the creek full
of brushwood and nettle. They lell on their backs. Thcy were both alive. The squeeze Of the
hand did not let up.

The witness also remembers new, single shots at those who did not'die immediately.

He remembers when the executors brought Hamedina Ramié and told her to look down at
those in the creck, and thereafier they shot her. Her dead body {ell down with her head over
the head of her brother, Amer Ramié.

The winess still had a hope. He and his wife were alive. Thev held their hands. He was
happy.

‘Then, he suddenly heard again the exccutor's voice: “See that woman! ™

His wife was the only woman there.

“There was «a shot.... I cannot forget thot....simply.....and there was a bird sound...and the
squeeze of the hand.....of my wife....which we held together.....and that is why it is difficult 10
me to undersiand....the time passes bw..her hand is siill in my hand, but it is gening
colder...1 felt her dving in oy hands....... "

They killed Halima Ali¢ too.

The time passed by and suddenly people started “arising from the dead™.

The witness remembers that they had to call him three times before he realized that the
survived viclims had called him, not the executors.

Amner Rami¢, Nascr Sulcjmanovi¢, Muharem Salkié, Ibro D2ananovi¢ and Mehmed Jahié
arose from the dead.

The dead bodies of the wile of witness Hamed ~ Halima Alié, his father Hamid Alié,
Hamedina Ramié, Munib Sulejmanovié, Fadil Sulejmanowé Hajrudin Hasanovié and
Hamed Veli¢ remained in the creek.
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He states that the survived victims thereupon escaped from the crime scene and found their
way 10 Srebrenica through the woods.

Winess Amer Rami¢, at the time ol age 18, experienced a simitar way of hiding and
suflering all through 20 May 1992,

The wimness remembers that afier leaving Bratunac together with his sister [Hamedina, he
firstly hid in Suha, and after the population of Suha had been expelled around 10 May, he
found his shelter in the abandoned quarry up from the village of Borkovac.

His relatives Hamed and Halima Ali¢ were with them.

Ile remembers thar on 20 May 1992, a couple ol hours before the durk, with the shouts and
curses “Balijus. surrender vourselves!™, a group of around 6 armed soldiers approached
them, The witness points out that his neighbor Mirko Todorovié¢ walked first.

“When | saw Mirko. it was easier 1o me, [ knew him, | ihougin he wonld save us...”, he
witness remembers.

There was also a soldier with a mask on his head,

However, ihe capiives were taken in a line, one-by-one 1oward the Sulejmanovié family
house, where the witness also recognized Krke, while he describes the other soldiers as
follows: a blond onc around age 24 and onc with curly hair. The soldier with the mask on
his head und Mirko Todorovié were sianding aside, while Krke and the other soldiers were
abusing, beating the captives and seizing from them their valuable nems. The wiiness thinks
that the accused Mirko and the soldier with the mask kept guard..

The wiiness remembers that the blond soldier himsell, around age 24, took his sisier
Humeding 10 the Sulejmanovic family house.

Thereafier, they were lined up, and again in the line retumed in the direction irom which
they had come.

At onc imoment, remembers the witness, the masked soldicr took ofY his mask. It was his
neighbor Milod Radi€, und 1the witness again felt a salvation hope. He emphasizes “f looked!
ar him in order to establish any eye comact. bur he only waiched me coldly as if he had
never seen me before ™.

They reached the creek, and thereafier, they were lined up with their backs turned toward
the creek.

The witness describes that the accused Milo$ Radié stood in front of him, at his left.

The soldier with curly hair staried the exceution. The witness slipped and Ieil in the creck
with his tace down, The execution continued and the bodies were falling into the creek. At
one moment, he heard the executors showing that some of those in the ereck had been still
alive and he heard them killing them with pistol shots.

“Someone said this one is moving, 1 thought it was me. for a moment you are glad that it iy
not you...then again, another one....and then they killed Hamed s wife, Halima.

He further siates that he heard when they had brought his sister Hamedina to the creek, he
heard but did not undersiand what they had told her, and thereafier he heard her sigh and a
shot, a shot into her head. _

Humedina fell over him. Her heud was on his head. 7 felt the blood pouring down my
Jace...even the brain traces could be seen leaking across my head....”

“For a moment, it is as if you are dreaming...you shink that this did not happen a1 ull...
and then, the witness remembers, firstly Hamed Ali¢ staned arising from the dead, and thcn
Mehmed Juhic, Ibro DZananovi¢, Muharem Salkié and Naser Sulejmanovié. Seven bg =7
including the body of his sister Hamedina, remained in the creek.
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The wilness pointed out in the end that only the Accused had known the termin because the
other 4 soldicrs were from somewhere clse. At least, he gained such impression of them.

The survived victims lefi the crisne scene and went toward Srebrenica.

Witness Naser Sulejmanovic had the same experience.

Afier leaving his house in Suha and the shelter in Glogova, which was burnt down, 10gether
with unother couple of Bosniak civilians, this witness came near the abandoned quarry
where he found around 10 persons.

They stayed in the quarry all shrough the aftermoon hours on that 20 May 1992, when he
was awakened by a call “Muxlimx, balijas, surrender yourselves, vou are surrounded”.

He remembers that among 3-4 armcd soldiers who had surrounded them he recognized
Mirko Toclorovié, his neighbor, the man he had known for all his life.

Mirko, who had a long-barrcl rifle, approached him and apologized to him, and 1o0ld him
that there was nothing he could do to help him.

Thereupon they were lined, up in a line and brought almost to the witness’s house, where
they found another couple of soldiers, namely one with a mask on his head, and Novak
Stjcpanovié aka Krke. They were subjected to mistrcatment there, particularly on the part of
Krke, while their valuable items were seized from them. The wilness points out that he did
not seec Mirko Todorovié abusing anybody.

He also remembers thal (wo soldiers singled out Hamedina Rami¢ from the group and 100k
her into the house.

The capuives wcre then taken in the direction from which they had earlier come, toward the
creek, in whose immediate vicinily the wilness noticed the body of Maho Awvdié, who had
been walking iogether with the others from the group in the direction of the Sulejmanovié
fanily houses.

Near the creek, at the very entrance 10 the woods, the witness states that the masked soldier
100k off his mask, and that he thereupon recognized the accused Milo3 Radié, his neighbor.
As he further states, the captives were ordered to line themseives up with their backs turned
toward the creck, while, the witness remembers, Mirko Todorovié, Milod Radi¢ and Novak
Sijepanovié — Krke stood in front of them.

They were ordered 1o pray 10 God, and then the execution started.

The witness does not remember whether someone had pushed him away, or whether he fell
by himself, but he knows that he fell in the creck, and somcbody’s legs fell over him. He
subscquently realized those were the legs of Amer Rumi¢.

Hc also heard when they again fired a shot at Halima Ali¢, and aller a while, when they
brought Hamedina Ramié, and told her “You see that we did not lie 1o you. we killed them
all.” Then they shot her and Hamedina fell over her brother Asner.

After a while, the survived victims siood up and lefl the crime scene. Ibro DZananovic,
Hamed Ali¢, Muharem Salkié¢, Amer Rami¢ and Mehmed Jahi¢ were among then.
The rest of the group including the witness’ uncic Munib Sulcjmanovié were killed.

In responding to the Defense questions, the witness asserts that the Accused did not abuse
them or seize their valuable items, but that they siood aside, with their cocked rifles, which
according to the opinion of the Court, in the situation as it was, prevented the captives from
leaving the crime scenc, namcly (rom leaving freely.
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“I'he 1estimony of witness Muharein Salkié is consisient with the loregoing testimonics.

This wilness remembers that, afier Bosnioks had heen rounded up wt the ity stadium, he
had guessed what would happen, and therefore he escaped to the woods.

On 20 May 1992, he was in the woods around 1km far away from his house. The witness
remeinbers that it was a sort of a quarry. Mc says that around 18:00 hrs, Mirko Todorovié
appeared with another unknown soldier and showted “Stap, venr are arrested”. He had @
riflc ready to shoot. He remembers that ihe soldicrs came from three directions so that “we
conld not escape ', concludes the witness.

Mirko was a school tricnd and a ncighbor of this witness. When the witness approached him
and asked for help, Mirko responded that he could not help them und asked them why they
had not surrendered themsclves.

He further statcs in his 1estimony that the captives were escorted 10 the Sulejmanovié lamily
house, where they were exposed 10 misireatment, beating, and seizure ol valuuble ttems.
Maho Avdié, who was at the back of the line, was killed on this road.

All soldiers were present during this mistreatmen, while Krke, who was described by ihe
wilness as ¢ corpulent man, with red-skin and sunspots had been the mosi active onc in all
thal.

There was also the soldier wiih the mask on his head. He had a papovka semi-automatic
rifle.

He remembers that they 100k Hamedinag Ramic into the house, and that afier a while, Krke
ordered that the remaining 12 persons be taken toward the creek.

The soldier with the mosk on his head escorted them to the creek, thereafier 100k ofT the
mask and then: “/ was so surprised....if someone had 1old me, | would not have believed
R, The accused Milod Radi¢ = his ncighbor, the man with whom he had spem a large
pin of his life, with whom he used to go 10 work, ¢lc. s100¢) in front of the wiiness.

Then the execution followed. The wiiness fell into the creek. Other bodies were falling over
him. Then there was a subsequemt shor by which Falima Alié was Killed. He also
remembers well when they brought Hamedina Rami¢ to the creck and told her "Go
them”, and when she shouted that they had not been there, she was told, “Look down
there", which was followed by a butiel. Hamedina was shot into her head. and the witness
remembers well that she fell over her brother Amer.

Afler a cemain period of time, which was an eternity for the witness. the survived viclims
staried getting up and then headed toward Srebrenica.

The killed persons stayed in the creek, namely: Hamid Ali¢, Halima Ali¢, Munib
Sulejmanovié, Fadil Sulcjinanovi¢, Majrudin Hasanovié, Haimed Veli€, Hamedina Ramié.

The witness pointed out in the end that only the inhabitants could know that 1ermin, namely,
Milo$ and Mirko, but not Krke who lived some 15km away from thai location.

This wiiness also confirmed that the accused Mirko Todorovi¢ and Milos Radié did nol
participate in the abuse and the seizure of vatuable ilems, but that they were presemt duning
all that with their cocked riffles. '

Indirectly, as the witnesses for the Prosecution, the following persons also testify 3
critical event: the father of the killed Hamedina Ramié - FHamed Ramié; the dng
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killed Hamed Velié — Elma Kaljevi¢; the wife ol the killed Fadil Sulejmanovi¢ - Sala
Sulejmanovi¢; the wite of she killed Maho Avdi¢ - Zejneba Avdié; the wife of the killed
Munib Sulcjmanovié — Rudveta Sulgjmanovié, and the wile of the killed Uajrudin
Hasunovi¢ - Sadein Hasanovic,

None of these witnesses was present al the crime scene, but they all heard froin the survived
victims, public media or cven through the Intemational Commitice of the Red Cross that
their beloved ones had been killed precisely on 20 May 1992.

Witnesses Elma Kaljevié, Hamed Rami¢ and Zejneba Avdi¢ also heard that their neighbors
- Mirko Todorovié¢ and Milo Radi¢ had panicipated in the killing of their beloved ones.
Witness Zejneba Avdié also heard that her husband Maho Avdi¢ had been killed first.

The wiinesses found owt that they were subsequently buried in a mass grave in the couryard
of the Sulejmanovié family house ihrongh Hamed Ramié, who being in search for the truth
about the destiny of his daughter Hamedina, went 1o Bratunac in 1998, and with the help of
his collcague Stanko Pokié, and witness Radoje Zivkovié, managed 1o locate the mass
grave in the courtyard of the Sulejmanovié family house.

As il obviously ensues from the photo-documentation made belore the exhumation - at the
moment of the arrival of representatives of the State Comimission for Tracing Missing
Persons, the grave was invisible, covered with grass, but the excavations confinmed that the
bodies of 8 killed persons had been buried there.

On the other hand, intending 10 remove any suspicion from the Accuscd as to their
involvement in the incriminating event, except for their indisputable presence in the vicinity
of the crime scene, the Defense for both the Accused focused iiscll on the good nenghborI)
relationships among the families of the Accused and their Muslim neighbors and their going
to the crime scene under cocrcion.

The following persons testified for the Defense of the accused Mirko Todorovié: Zivojin
Milovécvié, Miladin Jovanovi¢, Mehmedalizn Ahmi¢, Dragomir Blagojevié, Milorad
Nikoli¢, Safct Husanovi¢, Orhan Musi¢, Osman Osmanovié, Hanifa Vcli¢ and Milos
Todorovi€. The Accused himself presented his defense at the end of the evidemiury
praceedings.

None of the forcgoing winesses, except for Milos Todorovié, spoke about the critical event.
They spoke about the personality of the Accused, his pre-war and post-war relations with
Mustim neighbors.

The witncss Milod Todorovié states that on the critical day, namely on 20 May 1992, he was
mowing grass in a ficld together with witness Ljubisa Todorovié, when a group of soldiers
of a certain paramililary formation came and ordered them 1o follow them. As he states in
his testimony, among those soldicrs, he recognized the accused Mirko Todorovi¢ and Milo$
Radi¢, who were in civilian suils opposite 10 the soldiers in camouflage uniforms and with
caps on their heads.,

One of the soldicrs told them that they had been mopping up the temain. The witness points
out that he and Ljubisa had 1o follow those soldiers because othenwise they would have shot
them.
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The witness further points out: Ve knew about the hehavior of ihese paramilitary wnits,
vou did not dare fook ar their eves. they had nicknames. there swere all sorts of them. 1 do
not kuow where firom., ™

The witness remembers that the group split a1 one moment and went in several directions.
All of a sudden, they heard “Conmte here, here they aref” He points out that he and L.jubisa
Todorovi¢ uscd their position at the back of the line, and retumed back from where they had
come, namely they retumed to the field and continued mowing grass.

The witness also points out that subsequently nobody looked for 1svo of them. His opinion is
that the Accused could not retum as they were at the top of the line.

Witnesses Dragomir Blagojevi¢ and Zivojin Milovéevié pointed out in their statements that
they had heard when the Accused had been collected Irom the ficld and 1aken 1o the critical
event site, while witness Osman Osmanovié, pointing out that he did not wani 10 refer 10
any “hearsay®” infonnation, ncvertheless said that he had heard that the accused Mirko
Todorovié also attended the critical event,

On the other hand, in speaking about the behavior of the Accused at the beginning of the
war cvents in Bratunae, the witness Osman Osmanovi€ said that the accused Mirko
Todorovié himsell” had saved him from the sporis hall of the Fuk Karacd?i¢ Primary School
in Brawnac. where he had been delained with many other non-Serbs, having connected him
with a convoy of women and children leaving Bratunac.

Veli¢ Hanila, a retumce to Repovac and a neighbor of the Accused who remebers well her
husband’s words that the accused Mirko Todorovic¢ had suved him and his brother from that
sporis hall. also 1esiifies that the Accused saved other detainees from this camp.

Witness Mehmedalija Ahmié states how the Accused saved his father (oo.

The wimess sioted in his testimony that he had been deained at the Bratunac stadium, that
his father, in his dcelining years, had stayed alone in the house at the outskinis of the 1own,
and that the witness asked the Accused 10 bring there his father 100. The wilness remembers
that the Accusced did not manage 10 find him, and thai thereupon, togeiher with the wiiness's
mother, who had been also detained at the stadivm, he went 1o the Tather's house and
brought him to the stadiwm in the end.

Nevertheless, in response 1o the Prosecutor’s questions, the witness remembers that for him,
the stadium constituted the camp - the humiliation.

When speaking about the personality of the uccused Mirko Todorovié, all the wilnesses said
that he had always been an extremely business-like and successful mercham, always ready
10 help others.

Safer Hasanovi€, u returnee 10 Borkovac also testified at the main trin] about the personality
of the Accused and ihe unchanged good-neighborly relations. According 10 him, the
Accused has been helping him since he had returned to his pre-war place of residence, and
driving his son 10 school whenever he inet him wailing for a bus. The witness also
remembered that his aunt Hunifu had told him about the Accused saving people from the
detention.

Wiiness Orhan Musli¢ pointcd out that he had always had good rclations with the Accuscd
that they had always worked in cooperation, and that they only continued from wh e
had lef ofT when the witness retuned 1o Bralunac in 2000. As if nothing had hapg
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witness particularly emphasizes in his statement thal he had spoken with many persons,
former detainees in the Vuk Koradfié Primary Schoo! in Bratwunac, but that they never
mentioned the Accused as somcone who used o come 10 the School and abusc the
detainees.

Dragan Blagojevi¢ and Milorad Nikoli¢ testify abowt the retation of the Accused 1oward war
cvents, particularly about the membership in the RS Ammy:,

Winess Nikoli¢ pointed out at the main trial that he beard that the Accused had deserted 10
Serbia and that the RS Army menibers opened fire on him while he was crossing the Drina
River in order to prevent him (rom escaping.

Witness Blagojevié stated in his testimony that he remembered that during 1993 he worked
in the logistics and that on one occasionhe had to provide unilonns for deserters, and that
the accused Mirko Todorovié was among those descrters.

These wilnesses had no information about the cntical event. They had only heard
somcthing, but as the witness Nikolié said, they did not want o get involved.

Witness Zivajin Milanovié also remembers that the accused Mirko Todorovié deserted.
Wimess Miladin Jovanovié asserted in his testimony that it was anyway very difficult to
avoid the compulsory military service.

It ensucs from the verdict of the Military Court in Bijcljina, number [K-137/95 of | Augusi
19935 1hat the Accused was found guilty ol descrting during the period from 8 January 1993
until 1 March 1993.

‘The Accused himsclf presented the critical event in the following manner:

On that critical day, he was on the way 10 his uncle’s house in order to fix his bicvcle. In a
small narrow streel, he was stopped by unknown soldiers wearing uniforms and caps only
with cyc-openings and ordered him 10 follow them, which he did. They went together
toward the house of Milo$ and Ljubisa Todorovié. \When 1hey did not find them there, as he
further siates, they wenlt 10 the field in which two of them had mowed grass, according 10
their houschold members. Milod and Ljubi$a Todorovi¢ did not respond to the first call of
these soldicrs, alicr which a shot into air lotlowed, and they responded then.

The soldiers then asked about the location of the Suleymanovi¢ family house, and then split
in two groups: Milos und Ljubisa Todorovié and another unknown soldier were in one
group, while the accused Mirko Todorovi¢, the accused Milod Radié, Krke and other
soldicrs unknown 10 the Accused were in the other group.

Alter some 15 minutes walk through the woods, as he siates, someone shouted “Come
dovwen, here they are”. The Accused and a soldier unknown 10 him then Look one way, while
Ljubisa and Milos Todorovié went the other way. Milo$ and Ljubisa Todorovi¢ did not
rcturn, When the Accused and the unknown soldier came "down ™, as the Accused siates,
they found the accuscd Milod Radi¢ with an unknown soldier.

They told the Accused that Bosniaks were in the house, but regardiess of his interest, they
did not lct him enter the house.

He alleges that he therefore Ieft the place, went down to the main road and retumed home.
According to him, only the lollowing day he found out what had happened with his
neighbors.

Both the Accused and his wife cried. They moumed afier honorable and honest people, their
neighbors whom they all had known.
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When asked by the Prosecutor 1o explain the fact that Milo and Ljubisa Todorovié lefi the
sitc withour any obstruction, the Accuscd clarificd that he walked with the uniforned
soldier who hud not known the road and that therefore he had 1o show him the way.

The Accused also said: "/ had no chance 1o return beside such man, God. don't ler anvhocly
Sind himself in such sitnation!

On the other hand, the Accused pointed out that Milos and [Ljubida Todorovié¢ walked at the
back of the line which helped them 1o leave the line without being noticed.

When asked by the Prosecutor whether he ind seen Muharem Salkic and helped him on that
critical day, the Accused responded that he did not se¢ htm. The Accused also denicd the
Prosecution averments that he had been amed.

On the other hand, the Accused emphasized 1hat he was not masked, that he had no need 10
hide, and that the Prosectition witnesses had also said so.

The following persons testified tor the Delense of the uecused Milod Rudié: Milos
Todorovié, lkonija Pavlovi¢, Kristina Petrovié, Durdija Radié, Ramo Smajlovié. Sabit
Smajlovi¢, and also the Accuscd himself, who presenied his defense following the
completion of the evidentiary proccedings.

All the witnesses, except lor the Smajlovié brothers, testified about 1he critical cvem,
namely about the manner in which the Accused had found himsell in the group of soldiers
unknown 10 him.

Wiinesses Ramo and Sabit Smujlovié testified about their extremely good Iricndly and
neighborly relations with the Accused, pointing out that they had seen him last 1lime on
11 May 1992 afier which they were forced 10 leave Bratunac.

Witness Sabit Smajlovi¢ particularly pointed out that the accused Milod Radié had given
him the money for his trip. To 1€l the wruth, thai was the trip which meant the beginning of
exile for the witness.

In his first afler-war visit 10 Bratunac, Ramo Smajlovié firstly visited the accused Milod
Radi€. and only thereafter he went 1o his home.

The Smuyjlovié brothers point out that they are not interesied in anvihing that happened in
their village after 11 May 1992 and that therefore they know nothing about the critical
cvent.

Thereupon they agreed with the Prosccutor’s note that they did not know what the accused
Milos Rudic had done during the period from |1 May 1992 through 2000.

As already simicd in the reasoning of the Defense for the accused Mirko Todorovié, witness
Milo3 Todorovié also saw the accused Milo3 Radié in the group of soldicrs which had found
hiny in the field. Considering that the witness and Ljubisa Todorovié¢ soon left the line, he
did not see the accused Milos Radi¢ any more.

Witness tkonijo Paviovié remembers 20 May 1992 as a sunny day during which she and her
cousins — Milo§ Radi¢ and his wife Durdija, Milod's sister Kristina Petrovié and the brother
Milenko Radi¢ farmed coms in Milod's field in the alemoon hours.

She points out that her cousins were in black clothes since their father had died some time
before that day.

She remembers thai some soldiers suddenly appeared, a paramititary group, and s
“Milns. Milenko. come up here!”

Kroljice Jelene br, 88. 79 000 Sarnjevo, Bosna i Hercegovina, Tel: 033 707 100, Foks: 033 707 17
Kpariue Jenene §p. 88, 71 000 Capajeno, Bocua 1 Xepuerosuma, Ten: 033 707 100, daxc: 033 7UY

Downloaded from worldcourts.com. Use is subject to terms and conditions. See worldcourts.com/terms.htm




SUD BOSNE | HERCEGOVINE CYIl BOCHE W XEPLIETOBHHE

The witness opines that those soldiers knew them since they called them by their names.

The sister of the accused Milos — Kristina Petrovié, also remembers the critical day and the
moinent when an impudent voice called up her brothers.

Her brothers lcfl and the wilness continued working in the field with the remaining two
wonien.

She never spoke with her brother Milos about this cvent,

The wife of the Accused, Purdija Radié, confinms such sequence of the events and points
out that her husband and her brother-in-law had 1o respond 10 that ¢all.
Stwe, her sister-in-law and her cousin continued working in the ficid, and thereupon retumed
home.
It was already gellmg dark when her husband returned home “all good for uarhmg with hiy
eves full of tears’

“He told me not to ask him anyihing....and then he told me thai they had gone, and fhm they
mer a group of Muslims, and that they were all Rilled....and | said why didn’t you protect
them.....he asked how when they had told me that | could also go doven with them ... ",

The witness points out that at the time the Accused was ncither mobilized nor had any
weapons, but that he had a hunting rifle in the house since he was a huner.
She does not remember whether he brought the rifle with him on thai night.

In conlinming that on the critical day he was in his ficld with the foregoing witnesses and
farmed coms, the Accused stated the tollowing:

Some 40 minutes afler the armval in the field, he saw Milo and Ljubisa Todorovié passing
by the ficld and driving a hand-car, and thcreafler he heard a voice: “Milo§, and you,
Milenko. what are you waiting for, 1 will shoot!* A shot was fired in the atr.

The Accused states that he had 10 join them as there werc 5-6 soldiers on the one side, and
another 3-4 soldiers on the other side.

One of the soldiers whom he describes as “with blond beard and hair. around 170-180cm
heighi cocked the rifte and pointed it at the back of the Accusced, and forced him to go 10
ihe creck and thereupon snid: “You are digging here and collaborating with Muslims, while
they are cuning throais of our people

He remembers him walking toward the creck which was grown all over with thorns and
nettle, and that a1 one moment he also saw the accused Mirko Todorovié.

He also remembers that they had already sent away his brother—ivilenko Radi¢ with the
other part of the group.

Furthermore, he staics that while he was walking towsrd the family Sulcjmanovi¢ house, he
hcard a shot and the shout “We found them!*”

He also points out thai although nobody had told him why he had 10 go with them,
evenything became clear to him then.

As he states, Amer i Hamedina Ramié¢ stood in front of the housc, namely the shed of Fadil
Sulejmanovié, 1ogether with two other soldiers unknown to him. They were brother and
sister, his neighbors.

He further siales that he wanted 10 move away, and escape from the spot, but he was
stopped by a soldier who told him “You are that Milo§ who collaborotes with Muslims.™
The Accused, as he alleges, tried 10 explain him that he should retum home, to the field
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where his wife and his sisier had been waiting for him, but the soldier forced him 10 go
back, where he suddenly Jound his neighbors. Then ihe blond soldicr and another one with a
mask on his head ordered the pathered Muslims (o line up and follow him — the accused
iilos Radié.

Afier reaching the creek, the Accused iried to leave again, bul because of the sieep side, he
staics that he slipped and fell down, which those soldicrs noticed and ordered him 1o stay.
He particularly remembers a soldier with curly hair, around 180cm height, who ordered his
neighbors 10 line up above the creek, with their laces turned toward him, 10 pray 10 God in
their manner and thereafier shot them.

The Accuscd remembers that lbro D2ananovié was also among the persons lined up there,
who at the moment looked il the Accused as if he was asking for help with that look. The
Accused only shrugged his shoulders.

The men fell in the creek, and then that soldier ook ot a pistol and “finished the anes wha
had fallen down aid siaved alive ™.

He stines that thereupon he went home alone and told his wife everything, pointing out thai
{or three days he only cried, aie nothing, and feh so sormy for his neizhbors.

The Accused points out that he tried 1o explain 10 those unknown soldicrs how much these
neighbors of his had meant to him, how much they had been good 1o him. but afier the rille
had been cocked behind his back, he did not dare do anything elsc.

He is sure thai except for lbro D2ananovié, none from among the lined up persons
addressed him any more.

In responding 10 the Prosecutor’s question, the Accused was not able 10 explain the
assertion ol 4 survived wiinesses that he had o cap on his head on that critical day.
IHc also was not able 10 cxplain why the survivors charged him particularly.

The Accused himsell siates that (0 this date he sill has good relations with his Muslim
neighbors, the rare returnees 10 Repovac, the same ones as before the critical event.

Speaking about the beginning of the war events, wiincss Ljubida Todorovié remembers that
he kept village guards with his neighbors, including Milos and Milenko Radié. Ile
remembers that they were all issued with the ams, whilc he himsell was issued with o P4
semi-automatic riffle, Milog with a Cza machinc gun, Milenko with a P4 P, Milod Todoroé
with an automatic rifTle, and Rade Filipovié a PAP. They were issued with the wenpons by
Marko Blagojevié from Repovac, at the time the company teader,

He also remembers when Serb soldiers expelled the Muslim population from Hranéa and
Repovac during the time when together with 4 mentioncd persons he had held the combat
position Paji¢i above Hrana.

The witness also states that he panicipated in the Glogova cleansing operation afler they
had been lined up together at the location called “Separacija™ (the brothers Milod and
Milenko Todorovié were also there). He remembers that only Milod Radié had a machine
gun at the time. This cleansing implied shooting in the air in order 10 frighten Muslims and
force them 10 leave Glogova, which aclually happened.

Withoul remeimbering the precise date, but knowing that it was May 1992, the wi
points out that together with his cousin Milo Todorovié he set off 10 the Panj
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around 06:00 hrs 10 mosw grass. and that on the way 10 the lield they passed by the house ol
Milo$ Radi¢, whom they greeted and 1old him where they had been going.

The witness states that almost ncar the mowing completion a group of 8-9 soldicrs passed
by them wearing olive-grey unilonns and caps or multi-colored scarves on their heads, and
called them from the distance of around 500m 10 go with them, namely 10 clean the creek in
which, according to rumors, a group of Muslims had been hidden. They joined them and
went in the direetion of the house of Milod Radié, but when they saw that the group was
heading toward the creek up from the Borkovac settlement, the wimess and Milod
Todorovié, as he Nuther states, stopped and remained sitling on a meadow, looking the
soldiers entering the woods, namely the creek and going out of their sighi.

The witness points out that they did not waitt to follow thosc soldiers because they knew
that their Mustim neighbors had been hidden in the creek, and that they might recognize
them.

They had been sitting on the meadow for 1-2 hours, when they heard single shots in 3
minute periods, after which the witness told Milos 10 go home, so they went 1o their hoings.

As the witness funher siates, the following day he heard that 8 Mustims had been killed in
the creek, including onc girl whose father had worked in Germany, then Hajrudin
Hasanovi¢, a friend of the witacss from the primary school, ncighbor Maho and Fadil and
Munib Suiejmanovié.

He also heard that the following day. workers of the uiility services buried the bodies of the
killed persons beside a irec in the courtyard of the house of Bekir Sulejmanovié, where he
‘saw a pile of freshly dug-up carth while passing along that road on the following days.

The wilness also remembers that it was raining in the afternoon hours on that day.

He assens that he does not know who killed these men, namely whether the accused Mirko
Todorovoé and Milod Radié participated in it.

Also stated was a part of the witness’s stalement given duning the investigation, namely on
the premises of the Police Station Browunac, which was used for she interview purposes by
an authorized SIPA investigator.

However, a1 the main trial, the witness changed his Statement almost entirely.

Although he maintained the averment that topether with the accused Mitod Radi¢, his
brother Milenko, and the other neighbors he had kept village guards, the witness asseried at
the main trial that although they had uniforms, they were not amed.

At the main trial, the witness does not remember the Glogova cleansing operation about
which he had spoken during the investigation, although he maintains the pan of the
statement concerning the line-up ai the “Separacija’’ location led by Lazar Blagojevi¢. He
also denics the knowledge about the Paji¢ sculeshent, and the Crisis Staff existence in
Bratunac, as he had described in detail during the investigation.

The witness poims out at the main irial that he does not know who was killed in Borkovac,
not even when the Prosccutor specifically lisicd him the victims' names.

The witness explains such change of the statement at the main trial with the fact that the
statement during the investigative phase was given under pressure, namely that the SIPA
official pcrson tofd him 1hat he would send him 1o the Sarajevo prison if he did not tell him
cverything.
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He asserted that he even had not read the record, that he had signed i in fear, and that a
vchicle had been parked in front of the building which would take him to Sarajevo.

Wilness Bajro Kulovac, the SIPA investigator who had questioned this wiiness, siated a1 the
main trinl that in taking actions upon the BiH Prosecutor’s Office Order, supponed by the
Police Station Bratunac, he managed to contact the witness who worked in Belgrade, and
that the wilness’s wife, who worked in the PS Brutunue gave him the home phone number
so that he can obtain the information about the witness arrival, and thai around ten cays
afier that comact, Ljubiso Todorovié reported himself afier his arrival from Belgrde, after
which the witness went 10 Bratunoc.

They made the interview in the office of the PS Bratunac Deputy Chief.

Witness Kulovac remembers that Ljubisa Todorovié was a very cooperative witness and
that they had a cofTec during one of the breaks.

e potmts out that the interview lasted from 10:13 0 15:40 hrs, that the witness was alone,
und that the record writing lusted a bit longer.

Wiiness Bajro Kulovac was visibly surprised at the main 1nial. and he denied any threais 10
the witness, Ljubisa Todorovié, which he mainiained even when two of them were
confronted.

In addressing witness Todorovic, he particularly pointed out: “How could | have known, if
yau did not tell me™, having in mind the dewiled description of not only the ¢ritical event.
but many other events unrelated 10 this incriminating event.

On the other hand, witness Todorovié maintained his assertion thut he had said cverything
under pressure und threats with the prison in Surajevo, and also that witness Bujro Kulovac
head been shouting all the 1ime, due 10 which he, as he alleges, “immediately got contused*
lus rendered in the originall.

in evaluating the testimony of wiiness Ljubidn Todorovi¢ given during the investigmion, in
the context of all other testimonies, particularly the survived viciims (rom the capiured
group, but also of the Accused themselves, including witness Milod Todorovi¢, the Coun
accepted gs credible the statement of this witness given during the investigation, while the
onc¢ given al the main tral, was considered an obvious result of the intention 10 help 1he
Accused 10 avoid the criminal responsibility.

The Coun rendered such decision particutarly bearing in mind the facis that: the interview
was made on the premiscs of the PS Bratunac during the work hours, and that in case of any
shouting and yelling, as stressed by the witness Todorovié, it would be realistic to expect
that any ol the present policemen or other personnel, including the wife of this wiiness,
would check whai was happening on their ofticial premises, particularly because it is not
logical that a SIPA ofTicial person acted in such unprofessional manncr. as the witness iried
10 present the investigalor.

The Coun evaluated the testimony of the wilness Bajro Kulovuc, the SIPA iavestigaior, as
clear and convincing ,“particularly having in mind the faci that he himsclf noticed that he
could not have written sbout something which he did not know, namely: he does not know
the people, the place or the evenis described by the wilness Ljubisa Todorovié in his
statements when he talked about his relatives, persons of the same ethnicity, his placc-
Bratunac and the events which are deeply cut in his memory, in panicular, about !hc event
when 8 of his neighbors, civilians were executed one day in May 1992, -
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Thus, bearing in mind alt the foregoing, the consistent assertions of the witnesses for the
Prosecution conceming the criminal behavior of the Accused, and on the other hand, the
illogic statements of the witnesses for the Defense in many pars, who, intending to help the
Accuscd 10 avoid criminal responsibility, quite consciously created the circumstances which
are not consistent with the place and the time of the charges in terms of the place and the
time, the Court esiablished beyond any reasonable doubt that the accused Mirko Todorovi¢
and Milod Radié, intending 1o expel the Bosniak civilian poputation fromn the territory of the
Municipality of' Bratunac, including their ncighbors, participated in the commission of the
actions as charged, in the manner that as the local inhabilants, they showed the way o the
place where their neighbors were hidden, the lorest path which the soldiers from aside could
not have known at all, and thereafier, by their presence with cocked rifies, participated in
the unlawiul anest, and by standing around the gathered group, enabled the remaining 4
soldicrs to abuse, beal and seize valuable items from the captured civilians, even that two of
them singled owl from the group a 20-vear old girl Hamedina Rami¢ and 100k her 10 the
house in which she was kept, and finally, when retuming the civilians again toward the
place where they had been found, again with cocked rifles, looking at them in their faces,
enabled onc of the soldiers 10 execule the group of the remaining 12 civilians. Although
armed, the Accused failed 10 preveni the soldiers from abusing their neighbors, [ailed 1o let
them leave the erime scene wnnoticed, although the terrain allowed so, and failed 1o prevent
one ol the soldiers Irom opening the fire at their neighbors.

Their behavior, although passive at first sight, had a decisive importance for the commission
ol this crime. Had the Accused, as asseried by the Defense, been lorced 10 be at the crime
scene, a logical issue arises as 10 how come that the Accused did not iry to prevent the
remaining 4 soldiers from their inieniions. In the opinion of this Coun, two anned soldicrs
like them, helped by 12 civilians, could have quite cenainly resisted four soldiers from
aside. This is in panticular so bearing in mind the ndvaniage of the terrain knowledge. which
was on the side of the capiured civilians.

The Coun does not have any doubis as (o the statcments of the witnesses who survived the
excculion, particularly the identity of the Accused, while the assentions of the Defense for
the accused Milod Radi¢, that these staiements arc the result of an arrangement, which
ensues from the sole lact that, ollegedly, during the investigation only one survived viclim
said that the accused Radi¢ had a mask on his head, while during the main trial all survived
victims said so, the Count finds unfounded in their entirety, and poinis 10 the lack of logic:
10 wil, only an oppositc situation could have brought under suspicion the testimonices of the
witnesses, namely if only one survived viciim had said during the investigation that the
accused Milod Radié¢ did not have n cap - a mask, and all the others siated that he had it If
the witnesses, in a situation set up in that way, stated at the main trial that the Aecused did
not have a mask, this would indced bring under suspicion the truthfulness of the testimonics
of the witnesses, and also their honorable intentions.

However, bearing in mind the reactions of all the survived victims when they saw that their
neighbor and friend had been hidden behind a mask, which had raised a sort of hope in
them, the Court accepicd the testimonies of these witnesses in their entirety.

The Court panicularly had in mind the lact that none of the survived victims blamed the
Accused for more than they had aciually done, namely for what the witnesses had secn. The
witnesses could have also said that the Accused abused them, seized their valuable items,
that the Accused fire at them but they did not do so.
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The survived victims only said whai they had scen the Accused had done. They are
consistent in stating that the Accused stood with their cocked rifles, describing thal
identicully as: “guards kKecping “.

The Court also considered the illogic facts cnsued from the testimonies of the Delense
witnesscs, staning rom the ticld where the accusced Radi¢, allegedly larmed coms. and
from which he was “laken awny* by certain puramilitary soldiers, who nevertheless knew
his name and his broither’s name. Al onc momenlt, witnesses Ljubisa and Milo$ passcd by
that field with a hand-chart, which is all that the Accused mentions in relation 10 thesc 1wo
wilnesses.,

On the other hand, wilness Ljubida Todorovi¢ asserts that he and his cousin Ljubida
‘Todorovi¢ were taken by some unknown soldiers trom the (ield where they had mowed
grass, but that he recognized among them the accused Mirko Todorovi¢ and Milo$ Radi€. In
walking behind him, ar the moment when they split in several directions and said they were
going 10 cleanse the terrain, the witness states that he and Ljubisa Todorovié immediately
turned around and returued {rom where they had come, namely that they used their position
at the back of the line.

However, witness Ljubisa Todorovi¢ does not remember in his siaicment that the Accused
were also among those soldiers, but he points out that he and Milo§ Todorovic, at the
motne when they realized thas the line had been moving 1oward the house ol Milos Radic,
namely in the dircction of the creek up from Borkovac, stopped and stayed for 1-2h sitting
on the mcadow. COnly when they heard shois from the creck dircction, he states, ihey
reiurned home.

Bearing in mind the sintemems of Milod Todorovi¢, and also ol the accused Mirko
Todorovi¢ himself, who are speaking about those unknown soldiers as very dangerous men
who should not be even looked at, the Court considers it illogical that witnesses Milos and
Ljubida could have easily lefl the group of soldiers which forced them to follow them under
the thrent of weapons.

The 1csiimony of the accused Mirko Todorovié himsclf is conradictory. He firstly states
that he had to show the way 10 the uniformed soldier, and when they reached the house in
which his neighbors had been allegedly intemed, and those soldiers forbade him 1o see
them, he simply moved away from the site, went down the foresi 10 the main road where he
found the accuscd Milo§ Radié.

The accused Radié, however, docs not mention this house, but he points out thut he met the
accused Mirko Todorovié while walking through the creek, namely in the direction of the
Sulejmanovié¢ family house.

Subsequenmily, however, he states that witnesses [jubisa and Milo$ Todorovié couid leave
the group of soldiers because they walked st the back of the line, and that he himsell had no
chance of returning because of “such* a man, wishing nobody to {nce such situation.
According to this second part of his statement, the Accused did not leave the scene beeause
he did not dare,

This ensues from his further statement when he denies that he also, like the nccused Radié.
had a mask because he had no reason 1o hide, as said, according 10 him, by the witnesses for
the Prosecution too. These are the same wilnesses lor whom he originally assens thai he did
not scc them at all.
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The conclusion of the Coun is also confinmed by the testimony of the wilness for the
Defense, the wile of the accused Milod Radié, who siates that in the evening of 20 May
1992 Nlilos told her that he had been present at the killing of his neighbors.

On the other hand, the Coun also considered cerain diflerences in the testimonies of the
wilnesses for the Prosecution, from the fact that not all survived victims saw both the
Accused a1 the moment of execution, which is logical, considering that the witnesses stood
in a line of 12 men who were lorced 10 keep their heads bowed down, while some ol them
secretly looked at the ones who siood in front of them, and thus saw the accused Milos
Radié, while the others saw the accuscd Mirko Todorovié, and even Krke.

All the witnesses, however, arc consistent in the maiters essential for the establishment of
the responsibility ol the Accused.

The Count panticutarly considered the form of panicipation of the Accused in the
commission of this criminal offense, and sianting from Aricle 29 of the CC BiH which
prescribes: if several persons who, by participating in the perpetration of « criminal offence or by
taking sume other act by which a decisive contribution has been made 1o its perpetrarion, have
Jjointly perpetrated a criminal offence, shall each be punished as preseribed for the criminal uffence.,
concluding that the Accuscd were awarc of the circumsiances of the relevant time of the
particularly widespread and systematic atiack launched in the territory of their municipality
against non-Scrb civilian population, that they showed the way 10 the place where their
neighbors had been hidden, and thereafier with cocked rilles secured the termain and
prevented the captured civilians from leaving the scene (although they had a chance for that
if only the Accused had fet them do s0), and with such behavior enabled the execution of
the caplured civilians.

The Accused, the Couit concludes, were aware of their actions and they wanted s
commission, because had they not, the Coun is convinced, they could have prevented i1

Also, although the Accused arc charged with the commission of the criminal offense of
persecution as the crimnc against humanity by killings and tontures, as prescribed by Article
172 (1) item h), in conjunciion with itesns a) and () of the CC BiH, the evidentiary
proceedings showed that the actions of the Accused nlso satisfied the elements of the
criminal offense of deprivation of liberty as the erime against humanity, preseribed by iem
¢) of the snme paragraph.

Therefore, by applying Article 280, panicularly paragraph 2 of the CPC BiH, the Coun
found the Accused guilty of the commission of the criminal offensc of Crimes against
Fumanity in violation of Article 172 (1) item h), in conjunction with itcms a), f) and ¢) of
the CC BiH.

7. Mcting Out Punishment

In deciding upon the duration of punishment for a terin of |7 years, pursuunt 10 Anticle 48
of the CC BiH, the Coun particularly took into account the fact that the criminal offenses of
which the Accused are found guilty were committed with a direct intention, namely, with an
undoubicd knowledge of thc Accused about the characier of their actions and thcir
consequences, that is, consciously and willingly.

In deciding about the duration of punishment, the Count took into account all the
circumstances of influcace on i1, and it panicularly considcred the level of their
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responsibility, the motives due to which the oflense was commined, the sirength of
cndangering or the violation of the protccied goods. as well as the circumstances iy which
the offense was commined. Also, in deciding about the duration of punishment, the Court
0ok into account the former life of the Accused, their personal circwmsiances, their
behavior during these proccedings, thai is, the Court evaluated both the aggravating and the
cxicnuating ctrcumstances conceming the Accused.

Aggravating Circumstances

With regard 10 Mirko Todorovié and Milo$ Radi¢, the Court firsily considered the gravity of
the criminal oflenses of which they were found guihy.

The gravity of the criminat ofTenses with which the Accused ore charged was dctermined
based on the effect on the victims or the persons rclated 10 the criminal of¥enses and their
closest family. The gruvity is determined in personam, not in terms ol universal
circumsiances. The Coun found tha aithough the guilt of the accused can be related 10 a
panicular and general evil inflicted on the victim and hisfher family, it would have gone 100
far if cach incident that occuired in the local community was attributed to the accused who
was found guiliy.

Ahlthough the criminal ofTense against the values protected under international law is
punishable with the sentence of long tenn imprisonment, the Coun did not impose i
considering the form of the contribution of the Accused 10 the commission of this criminitl

offense.

In this panicular case, the Coun took into account the following clemenis generally
considered in meting oui the duration of the punishment:

ln deciding on the duration of the punishment, the Coun firstly considered the manner in
which a dccision can influence the protection of socicly againsi the accused persons who
were found guilty, which constituted an impontani facior in meting oul an appropriale
punishment. The protection policy depends on the criminal ollense nature and the behavior
of the accused. The protection of society ofien implies the sentences of long tenn
imprisonment in order 10 protect the socicty against the hostile and criminal behavior of the
guilty accused. This fuctor is importunt and refevant when the guilty accuscd is considercd
risky for the society.

In the case at hand, the Court considered the contribution of the nccused in the commission
of the criminal offense, that is, the fact that by their presence, both in the discovery of their
neighbors in the place where they were hidden, and in their escon 10 the place where they
were killed, while the Accused, their neighbors, with their cocked riffles pointed a1 them,
calmly waiched their exccution.

Furnthermore, the Coun also 100k into account the rehabilitation factor which addresses the
circumstances of the reintegration of the accused found guilty into society. This is usuakly
the casc when younger, or less educated members of the society are found guilty of crmunui
offenses. Therefore, it becomes necessary 10 reintegrate them into the sociely so
can become useful mcmbcrs and in order 10 enable them (o live a normal and prg
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aller their release from prison, which the Coun also 100k into account regarding the
Accused in meting out their punishmeni.

In addition to the fact that by an appropriate punishment the Accused should be prevented to
a sullicient extent from ever thinking of panicipating again in such crimes, in rendering its
decision. the Court also took inlo account the persons who wmight in the future find
themscelves in similar situations, who also should be deierred from participating in such
criminal olfenses.

A dccisive contribution which the Accused gave in the killings of civilians, their neighbors,
and the immcasurable conscquences which have permancnily affected the life in the
relevant territory, led the Court 10 impose the punishment of 17 years ol imprisonment.

Although the consequences of this criminal offense are immeasurable and pennanent, which
most vividly ensues from the testimony of Rudveta Sulejmanovié “and my Munib is missing
and missing®, the Court finds that such punishment will contribute to zn increase ol the
awareness about the consequences and punishability of such crimes, that is, the jusiness of
punishing the perpetrators.  ~ '

Mitigating Circumstances

in meting oui the appropriate punishment 10 be imposed after finding the Accused guiliy, in
addition 1o general factors, it is important 10 also take into accounlt the personal factors such
as the age of the Accused and their prior behavior. The general reputation ol the Accused is
also o detail which the Court took into aceount.

The Dcfense for both the Accused submiitted cvidence that the Accused have good
characters. Many witnesses for both the Defense and the Prosccution pointed out 1hat the
Accused had neither seized valuable items from the captives nor did they shool them ai the
time of the critical event, that before the critical events they had extremely good relations
with their Muslim ncighbors, with some even afier the war events 100. Also, according 10
the stalements of cenain witnesses, using his authority the accused Todorovié Mirko even
managed 10 release certain Muslims detained before the critical event.

The Coun also took into account the fact that both the Accused are family men, that cach is
a father of three children and thal during the proceedings ihey behaved correctly before the
Court.

Conclusion

Bearing in mind all the {oregoing aggravating and extenuating circumsiances evaluated by
the Count, the Count finds that the imposed sentence is proportional 1o the gravity of the
committed criminal offense, the extent of the eriminal responsibility of the Accused, the
circumstances under which the crime was committed and the motives of the Accused 10
commit the criminat offense, and thal the purpose of punishment in terms of special and
general prevention will be achieved by the imposed punishment.
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Pursuant 10 Article 56 of the CC BiH, the time that the Accused spent in custody, staning
fron 24 May 2007, will be credited to the sentence ol imprisonment.

&. Decision on Costs and Claims under Property Law

Pursuant 1o Anticle 188 (4) of the Criminal Procedure Court of Bosnia and [Herzegovina, the
Accused ure relieved in pant of the duly 10 compensate the costs ol the proceedings
considering thai from the case file development it ensues that the duiy 10 reimburse the
overall costs of the proceedings could jeopardize economically the suppon of the Accused,
or their familics.

The Court will determine the amount of theses cosis in a separate decision pursuani 10
Article 186 (2) ol the CPC BiH.

In instructing the injured partics 1o take civil acitons in order 10 pursue their claims under
property law, the Count was led by the fact that there is a fuirly large number of injured
parties in these proceedings, that a longer period of time would be required 10 determine the
amount based on the claims under propeny law, and that thereby the proceedings would be
delayed. Therefore, it was decided pursuant 10 Anticle 198 (2) ol the CPC Bild.

RECORD-TAKER k
LEGAL ADVISOR PRESIDENT OF THE PANEL

AMELA SKROBO MINKA KREHO

NOTE ON LEGAL REMEDY: An appcal may be filed from this Verdiel with the
Appeltate Division of this Court within 15 duys aller the receipt of a written copy of the
Verdict.
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